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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Materiality

Avior acknowledges materiality, those matters that could 
substantively affect the organisation’s ability to create value 
over the short, medium or long term, as being a key concept 
of the IIRF and has applied this in determining the content for 
this IAR.

Assurance

Avior applies a combined assurance model to ensure a 
coordinated approach to assurance activities. The Audit 
and Risk Committee oversees the assurance activities of the 
Group. This committee also oversees the establishment of 
effective systems of internal control to provide reasonable 
assurance that Avior’s financial and non-financial objectives 
are achieved.

Forward looking statements

The IAR contains certain statements that are forward looking. 
By their very nature, such statements cannot be considered 
guarantees of future outcomes as they are dependent 
on events and circumstances, the predictability of which 
is uncertain and not necessarily within the organisation’s 
control.

Responsibility statement

The Board and Audit and Risk Committee acknowledge 
its responsibility for ensuring the integrity of this report. 
The Board believes that this report presents a balanced 
and fair account of Avior’s performance for the year ended  
30 April 2018. The Audit and Risk Committee has applied its 
mind to the report and believes that it addresses all material 
issues and presents fairly the integrated performance of 
the organisation. On the recommendation of the Audit and 
Risk Committee, the Board approved Avior’s AFS and IAR on  
27 July 2018 and 30 August 2018 respectively. 

The report covers the period from 01 May 2017 to 
30 April 2018 for the financial reporting entity, 
Avior. The purpose of the IAR is to provide our 
stakeholders with an overview of the operations 
since Avior’s listing on the JSE on 06 June 
2017. The IAR should be read in conjunction 
with the Group AFS, which together provide a 
comprehensive overview of the organisation.

This report is guided by the IIRF and the 
King IVTM report. The recommendations and 
requirements of King IVTM and the JSE Listings 
Requirements form an integral part of the 
corporate governance framework within which 
Avior operates. Avior welcomes the objectives 
set in the King IVTM report and continuously 
strives to entrench the governance outcomes 
within the business and Avior’s corporate 
governance framework.

Avior recognises that integrated reporting is a 
journey and is committed to moving towards 
a more integrated approach to reporting 
by making incremental improvements on a  
year-on-year basis.

Group Annual Financial Statements 

The statutory AFS are prepared in accordance 
with IFRS, the JSE Listings Requirements and the 
requirements of the Companies Act.

Annual General Meeting notice

The IAR includes the AGM notice and in 
accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, made the IAR and the 
notice to the AGM available on the website  
(www.avior.co.za). Printed copies are also 
available on request. All shareholders will be 
provided with the date and time of the AGM 
via mobile phone text messages or email. 
If the email or mobile phone number is not 
available, the notice of the AGM together with 
the abbreviated AFS, will be posted.

Chairperson Chief Executive Officer
Marilyn Ramplin Peter Koutromanos
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ABOUT AVIOR

Avior Capital Markets Group is an independent financial services provider. It’s core offerings includes investment 
research, stockbroking (equities, derivatives, fixed income and global), corporate broking and corporate access, 
transition management and wealth services to institutional, corporate and private clients in South Africa and abroad. 
Avior commenced business in 2005 and has offices in Johannesburg, Cape Town and London.

Avior primarily services three key markets being South Africa, International and Frontiers markets (Africa and  
Middle-East).

Business model

Avior’s business model is structured to support a broad financial services stakeholder community by delivering a 
comprehensive product platform that is value adding to the markets it serves.

Institutional 
clients

Corporate 
clients

Private 
clients

Technology

Equity research

Global Stockbroking
(Equities, Derivatives and Fixed Income)

Corporate broking and access

Transition management

Wealth services

South Africa Frontier marketsInternational

Financial 
Capital

Human 
Capital

Intellectual 
Capital

Social and 
Relationship Capital

Manufactured 
capital

Key Inputs

OUR MISSION
Avior is a financial services firm that provides 
a broad range of research, trading and 
advisory services to professional investors 
that improves our client returns from 
investing in capital markets.

We seek to attract and develop talented 
and passionate employees who actively 
engage with our clients in open and honest 
relationships. We invest in technology and 
our team to enhance our service offering.

OUR VALUES
1. Put our clients first.

2. Build open and collaborative relationships.

3. Pursue growth and develop talent.

4. Innovate and be resourceful.

5. Commit to our communities.

6. Be humble, professional and ethical.

Avior Capital Markets Holdings  •  Integrated Annual Report 2018

4



MATERIAL ISSUES

Material issues are factors, both internal and external, 
that influence a business’ ability to be sustainable.

They may be categorised as either threats or 
opportunities and can include anything from  
macro-economic policy to specific operational risks.

The most significant material issues facing the Group 
at present are:

• The uncertain economic climate in South Africa and 
globally, especially those facing emerging markets.

• The related fluctuations in the value of the Rand.
• Regulation of financial markets.
These factors have a direct impact on the investment 
and financial services environment.

Within this context, the Group:

• Continues to develop a diversified portfolio of 
products and services.

• Recruits and retains high calibre staff.
• Implements strict cost containment measures.
• Takes all appropriate measures to ensure that the 

Group is resilient in the current climate.
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THE AVIOR JOURNEY

80 Staff members

100+ local stocks under coverage

Dealing in equities, derivatives, 
fixed income and global

Corporate broking and 
access

Offices in JHB, CPT and London
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Research

#10 Firm equity 
research Ranking
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#1 Innovative 

Research
Name change to 
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Added derivatives and 
fixed income trading to 
our portfolio
Avior acquires 
offices in London
FCA authorised broker 
dealer

Transition 
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 #6 Firm equity 
research ranking
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Africa research and trading
#9 Firm equity 
research ranking
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Groombridge

#8 Firm equity 
research ranking
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NON-FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

100+
Active clients

Global Trading 
In 31 Markets

250+ Lunches
7 Corporate roadshows
since 2011

Research Coverage:
101 South African shares
13 African shares
22 sectors

Local staff members

75
London staff 
members

5
m e m b e r

Authorised 
Financial Services Provider 
– FSP 45814

Authorised 
and regulated

5

44

31

London

Cape Town

Johannesburg

Pan-African 
research coverage

Trade capabilities in 

15 African markets

Offices In

#3
17 equity research rated sectors

#1 FM equity research rank in five sectors

12 rated analysts
*source FM ratings 2017 

SOUTH 
AFRICAN 
OWNED AND 
MANAGED
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Operating Revenue 
Increased 5% to R177.0 million
Headline Earnings per Share 
Declined 77% to 3.55 cents
Earnings per Share 
Declined 81% to 2.99 cents
Profit for the year 
Declined 84% to R4.4 million
Tangible net asset value 
Increased 15% to 58.10 cents per share
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ECONOMIC CONTEXT

Overview

Avior is a cyclical business and is currently operating in 
a down cycle. This economic context is characterised by 
a challenging South African environment and low GDP 
growth. This is driven by ongoing political and policy 
uncertainty. Globally, emerging markets have seen a 
recent withdrawal of capital. Compounding this is the 
end of a 10 year global equity bull run. The institutional 
investor environment is also facing structural changes 
leading to margin pressure.

Local developments

South Africa’s market remains challenging driven by weak 
macro fundamentals, political and policy uncertainty. 
Economists have recently revised SA’s GDP lower since 
the start of the year, while the rand volatility has had an 
impact on market liquidity and returns. Debates around 
the land expropriation without compensation and the 
mining charter continue to weigh on any recovery in SA’s 
business and consumer confidence.

The outcome of the ANC’s elective conference in 
December 2017 was well received by the markets 
leading to positive JSE market gains into early 2018. 
This momentum was undermined by large corporate 
scandals and renewed government political and policy 
uncertainty. Investors continue to watch political 
developments leading up to the general elections 
in 2019, on whether president Cyril Ramaphosa can 
consolidate power. 

Institutional investors are facing ongoing margin 
pressure driven by increasing regulation and the 
investment trend towards passive funds.

Global developments

The global recovery has continued together with a  
10 year global equity bull run. This ongoing momentum, 
a stronger dollar and increasing international interest 
rates has led to a withdrawal of capital from emerging 
markets, which includes South Africa. 

One of the major developments of the period was 
an update to the EU’s MiFID II. This calls for greater 
transparency in the EU’s financial markets and for 
the standardisation of the regulatory disclosures. 
This impacts countries in the EU, with the regulation 
impacting the Group’s UK business. This is anticipated 
to increase pressure on brokerage fees and research 
income.

Business impact

Despite a challenging business environment and an 
adverse business cycle, Avior did maintain overall 
positive revenue growth in the current financial year. 
However, the above has impacted its core brokerage 
and research fees leading to a year-on-year decrease. 
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LONG-TERM STRATEGY

INVESTMENT THESIS
The Group seeks to develop and establish a track record of value 
generation by leveraging its core business into new growth areas. 

Avior creates value by:

• Market leading research.
• Organic growth.
• Market and geographic expansion.
• Product innovation.
• Corporate broking and finance deals.
• Private wealth services.
Value is created through:

• Share price appreciation.
• The employment of 80 staff.
• Dividends paid to shareholders.
• Staff skills training and development.
• Payment of taxes.

Since its listing, the Group has a defined five-year strategy to grow the firm organically expanding both its product, 
customer segment and geographic market footprints. This is to be achieved while placing customers and staff at the 
core of its proposition. This ambition informs the key focus areas.

# Key focus area Further commentary

1 Deliver exceptional service to clients • Track the quality of service and provide a personal and  
high-touch service aligned to our values.

• Inspire employees to deliver exceptional service through 
continued engagement and training.

2 Attract and retain the best talent in 
the business, while contributing to a 
sustainable society

• Provide a compelling staff platform that centres on growth, 
career development and the relevant reward structures.

• Continue to develop long-term value for society.
3 Design new products that meet the 

clients’ requirements, leveraging core 
capabilities that are sustainable

• Maintain an ethos of continual product innovation through  
regular product launch cycles.

• Encourage employees to focus on enhancing quality and growing 
innovation and entrepreneurship to design new solutions that 
benefits its clients.

4 Build market momentum and expand 
into strategic complimentary markets

• Inject a renewed focus into the core business model by paying 
attention to underlying business drivers.

• Expand into new markets that leverage existing capabilities to 
further support and grow the client base.

5 Achieve a higher margin business • Continually review and improve operational efficiencies.
• Leverage best of breed platforms and technologies to achieve 

scale while growing.
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STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS

Avior believes that transparent and inclusive engagement with all its stakeholders is vital to creating value and 
achieving its strategic objectives. The below reflects how Avior aims to continually engage its stakeholders.

Key Stakeholders

Clients Shareholders and Investment 
Community

Employees Regulators

Avior website Investor relations section on the 
Avior website 

Encouraging and building a high 
developmental culture

Statutory 
reporting

One-on-one client 
updates and 
presentations

SENS announcements Frequent communication and 
engagement with employees

Avior website

Quarterly and semi-
annual broker reviews

Interim and annual reports

AGM

Setting of measurable key 
performance indicators

Director and 
appointed officer 
engagement

Analyst roadshows Twitter, Facebook and LinkedIn Share articles related to the 
industry, investments and Avior

Corporate access 
roadshows

Print, radio and television media Communicate achievements of 
Avior and its employees

Twitter, Facebook and 
LinkedIn
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GROUP STRUCTURE

* With effect from 28 May 2018 Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited disposed of its shareholding in A-Trade  
(Pty) Limited to Pallidus Investments (Namibia) (Pty) Limited.

Avior Capital Markets 
Holdings Limited

100%

100%

100%100% 100%

50%

Avior Capital Markets 
Holdings (Pty) Limited

Groombridge Nominees  
(Pty) Limited  
(Nominee company)

A-Trade (Pty)  
Limited*

Avior Capital Markets  
lnternationaI Limited  
(Avior International)

Avior ETF Funds  
(Pty) Limited  
(Avior ETF Funds)

Avior Capital Investments 
(RF) (Pty) Limited  
(Avior Investments)

The Group’s structure comprises the following entities:
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SERVICE OFFERINGS

The Group comprises several entities which services its clients across multiple geographies and footprints through 
several value adding product offerings.

Entity Holding Operates Services Description

Avior Capital 
Markets Holdings 
Limited

N/A
Local and 
offshore

• The Group’s holding 
company

The entity owns all the subsidiaries 
and joint ventures in the Group and 
is otherwise dormant.

Avior Capital 
Markets (Pty) 
Limited

100%
Local and 
offshore

• Equities trading (JSE and A2X)
• Research and advisory
• Derivatives trading (JSE)
• Fixed income trading (JSE)
• Corporate access
• Corporate broking 
• Private wealth

Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited 
is the primary operating entity 
within the Group, providing 
industry leading equity research, 
trading and corporate broking 
and corporate access and wealth 
services to its clients.

Avior Capital 
Markets 
International 
Limited 100% Offshore

• Frontier market trading
• Global equities and 

derivatives trading

Avior Capital Markets International 
Limited extends the South African 
capabilities to a global client base, 
provides frontier market trading 
capabilities and supports onshore 
clients with an integrated global 
trade offering. 

Groombridge 
Nominees (Pty) Ltd

100% Onshore
• Client account nominee 

company
Groombridge Nominees (Pty) Ltd 
houses controlled client custody.

A-Trade (Pty) 
Limited*

50% Onshore

• Equities trading (4AX) A-Trade (Pty) Limited is a 50% 
owned joint venture with Pallidus 
Investments (Namibia) (Pty), which 
was created to provide clients with 
trade execution services on the 
newly formed 4AX stock exchange.

Avior Capital 
Investments (Pty) 
Limited

100% Onshore
• Dormant entity Dormant entity.

Avior Wealth 
Services (Pty) 
Limited previously 
named Avior 
ETF Funds (Pty) 
Limited

100% Onshore

• Private wealth
• Asset and investment 

management
• Risk planning
• Retail trading

Avior ETF Funds (Pty) Limited 
is a specialist private wealth 
management business helping 
clients nurture their wealth.

*With effect from 28 May 2018 Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited disposed of its shareholding in A-Trade (Pty) 
Limited to Pallidus Investments (Namibia) (Pty) Limited, the joint venture partner.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Marylin Ramplin
Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairperson of the Board
Appointed 24 April 2017

Ms Ramplin has a background as a hedge fund trader and investment 
banker with JP Morgan. She has served as a technical advisor to regulators 
both locally and internationally, including the Financial Services Board and 
National Treasury. Ms Ramplin is the founder of Novia One Group in SA and 
is globally recognised as a specialist on credit counterparty risk. She has also 
advised clients such as the Bank of International Settlements. Current Board 
and committee positions include Alexander Forbes, JSE Clear, STRATE, various 
Ashburton and FNB Investments entities and the Nelson Mandela Foundation. 
Ms Ramplin’s qualifications include holding a Derivatives and Regulatory 
Qualification – UK Securities Institute.

Stephan David Price 
Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed after the reporting period on 14 May 2018  

Mr Price co-founded Soundsolve (Pty) Limited in May 2018. Soundsolve is 
an Executive management services firm specialising in the financial services 
sector. Mr Price has extensive experience in the financial services industry 
and spent approximately 19 years with the (Alexander Forbes Group, during 
which time he served in various roles across investments and operations 
in both SA and the UK. He was actively involved in building one of the 
subsidiaries of the Alexander Forbes Group (being Investment Solutions, 
now Alexander Forbes Investments) into a dominant investment business. 
Mr Price has also served on multiple Boards both locally and in Jersey 
and was part of the listing and delisting of the Alexander Forbes Group.  
His experience further includes leading large teams, developing and executing 
strategies and managing complex legal entities from a financial, operational, 
people, regulatory and transformation perspective. Mr Price’s qualifications 
include holding a Bsc Degree, a CFA Charter holder, and an AMP from Harvard 
Business School.

Thabo Vincent Mokgatlha 
Independent Non-Executive Director and 
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee
Appointed after the reporting period on 6 June 2018 

Mr Mokgatlha is the CEO of Baphalane Ba Mantserre Investment Holdings 
(Pty) Ltd, a community investment holding company and currently serves on 
a number of Boards as a Non-Executive Director. He is currently a trustee 
of the United Royals Kingship Trust (SA), the Chairman of Master Plastics 
Limited and a Board member of 4AX, Hyprop Investments Limited, Nutritional 
Holdings Limited and York Timbers Limited. Mr Mokgatlha worked for the 
Royal Bafokeng Administration between 2002 and 2011 where he held several 
management positions. Mr Mokgatlha served his articles at Coopers and 
Lybrand (now PricewaterhouseCoopers) and spent the last 6 months of his 
articles as a senior lecturer at UNW following which he was appointed as a 
senior lecturer on a full-time basis while simultaneously working as a consultant.  
Mr Mokgathla’s qualifications include holding an Honours BCompt/Certificate 
in the Theory of Accounting (CTA) postgraduate qualification from University 
of South Africa and a BCom (Accounting) degree from North West University.  
Mr Mokgatlha is a chartered accountant.

Avior Capital Markets Holdings  •  Integrated Annual Report 2018

18



BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Peter Koutromanos, 

Chief Executive Officer
Appointed 19 March 2015

Mr Koutromanos co-founded Avior with Mr Mattison in March 2005.  
Mr Koutromanos has 20 years of experience in financial services.  
Mr Koutromanos spent two years as an analyst with a local fund manager and 
another two years in equity sales at a local stock broker.   Mr Koutromanos also 
worked for five years in equity sales at a global investment bank. Mr Koutromanos 
holds an MBA, CFA, B. Comm (Econ Science) (Hons).  Mr Koutromanos is also a 
JSE Member, JSE Registered Securities Trader, and a member of South African 
Institute of Stockbrokers and South African Investment Analysts’ Society.

Kevin Mattison

Executive Director 
Appointed 19 March 2015

Mr Mattison co-founded Avior with Mr Koutromanos in March 2005.  
Prior to Avior, he spent eight years at Investec Securities, and seven years at 
the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce in Toronto. Mr Mattison’s career 
in the financial markets spans equity sales as well as being a top-rated 
technology and media analyst, which he continues to have an active interest in.  
Mr Mattison is currently Managing Director of Avior as well as a Director of its 
UK subsidiary, Avior Capital Markets International. Mr Mattison’s qualifications 
include holding an MBA and CFA. Mr Mattison is also a member of the JSE.

Justin Larsen

Finance Director 
Permanently appointed after reporting period on 11 June 2018 

Mr Larsen joined Avior in November 2017. Mr Larsen has a background in 
global markets, investment banking and private equity. His experience was 
gained both in the UK and South Africa in finance transformation roles at 
several large global banks, which include UBS, Renaissance Capital, Standard 
Bank and RMB. Prior to joining Avior Holdings, Mr Larsen was the Head of 
Strategy at a Big 4 auditing firm, where he worked with several clients in the 
private equity industry and on several major blue-chip finance transformation 
programmes. He completed his articles at a Big 4 auditing firm in 2008.  
Mr Larsen is a qualified Chartered Accountant (CA(SA)).

The following Directors resigned:
- Octavia Matshidiso Matloa: 11 May 2018
- Elias Masilela: 11 May 2018
- Mark D Collier: 21 July 2017
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CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT

Avior successfully listed on the JSE (AltX) on 06 June 2017. 
Avior pursued a listing on the JSE to:

• Enhance the Group’s public profile by creating brand 
equity and visibility.

• Enhance relations with existing stakeholders such as 
banks, suppliers, distributors and customers.

• Improve the quality of information available for decision-
making by stakeholders.

• Increase liquidity for existing shareholders of Avior 
Holdings and enable such shareholders to, the extent they 
wish to do so, to realise the value of their investments in 
Avior Holdings through a public trading platform.

• Implement staff share schemes .
I am proud to announce that the Group’s services are highly 
regarded and recognised in surveys such as the Financial Mail 
and the JSE Spire Awards since 2008. 

The Board and the Company is committed to good governance 
and firmly believe that good governance is key to delivering 
value to stakeholders and supporting a sustainable business. 

The Group is led by an experienced and dynamic Board 
to ensure Avior achieves its listing objectives and creates 
sustainable value for its stakeholders. All changes and 
additions to the Board always considers the best blend of 
skills to help ensure continued growth and the optimisation 
of shareholder value.

Avior operated in challenging economic times and an intricate 
regulatory environment. Avior capitalised on the challenges 
and fast changing environment to explore the various options 
to further enhance its offerings and strategy. The Group has 
set a bold five-year strategy and is committed to achieving its 
objectives.

The Board has a deep appreciation for the continued 
commitment and contributions of the Avior management 
team and employees. The dedication and commitment to 
excellence was rewarded at the 16th annual JSE Spire Awards 
held in October 2017 where Avior received three of the 
prestigious awards. The Spire Awards recognises excellence 
in SA fixed income, currency and commodity derivatives 
market. Avior’s awards include two first place awards for 
Best Agency Broker – Bonds as well as Best Research Team 
– Quantitative Research, and one third place award for Best 
Agency Broker – Listed IR Derivatives.

Chairperson
Marilyn Ramplin
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

Avior has completed its first full year as a listed company.  
During this period, Avior invested substantially in 
enhancing its offering and developing its platforms. 
Unfortunately, the outcomes of these actions taken do 
not yet reflect in the current year’s  financial results.  
The business is highly cyclical, and is currently in a trough 
driven by both local and global political uncertainty and 
a general withdrawal of capital from emerging markets.

The year was also marked with the implications of the 
EU’s MiFID II, which provides for greater transparency in 
the EU’s financial markets and for the standardisation 
of the regulatory disclosures required in some markets.  
This led to reduced trading volumes for Avior which were 
compounded by lower commission rates. The impact 
of these changes on Avior’s core institutional equity 
business was offset from a revenue perspective by good 
growth in its derivatives trading division. However, the 
operating margin of this business is lower than Avior’s 
core equity business.  

Avior continues to broaden its geographic reach and its 
product offering to enhance its overall client proposition.  
Progress was made in cross-selling Avior’s services 
to different clients as well as introducing new lines of 
business to build upon the historical client base. 

The investment in new services and the upgrade in 
Avior’s infrastructure has positioned Avior well for future 
growth. The Group will continue to be cautious in its 
investment decisions and will primarily focus on growing 
organically with the goal of minimising shareholder 
dilution. Avior will however consider small strategic 
acquisitions where it adds meaningful value. The Group 
has  also taken several measures to reduce its cost base 
and improve margins which should reflect in next year’s 
financial results.

Avior has a committed and talented team.  The Group 
has been successful in identifying talented individuals 
and nurturing their careers at Avior, especially in 
the equity analyst space. The Group remains young 
and energetic with a strong entrepreneurial flair and  
“can-do” attitude. 

Avior has made significant steps towards genuine 
and authentic transformation and has taken several 
measures to further progress this agenda over the past 
year. Avior has always been and remains an engaged 
and empowering corporate citizen.  Avior’s development 
of investment professionals is a testimony to this. 

The management team recently set an ambitious  
five year plan and is in the process of aligning staff 
incentives and management priorities to meet the 
planned objectives. While early execution has started, 
material progress is anticipated against these objectives 
in the coming financial year.

Competitive pressures are expected to increase, but with 
an enthusiastic team, continually improving platforms 
and a bold five-year strategy, Avior is well positioned to 
meet the challenges of a rapidly changing industry.

Chief Executive Officer
Peter Koutromanos
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FINANCE DIRECTOR’S REPORT

A challenging economic growth environment 
characterised the 2018 financial year, which is reflected 
in this year’s results.

Financial performance

Operating revenue increased by 5% to R177.0 million 
from R168.5 million. The main contributor to growth 
in the current period was an increase of 120% in 
derivatives revenue to R37.2 million from R16.9 million. 
This was offset by a decline in core brokerage revenue 
of 10% to R116.3 million from R128.7 million and a 
research revenue decline of 21% to R13.0 million from  
R16.4 million. This revenue offsetting does speak to the 
strength of the Group’s diversified product offering.

Operating expenses increased by 12% to R168.7 million 
from R150.2 million due to an increase in employee 
benefits and professional service costs driven by the JSE 
listing. Consequently, profit from operations declined by 
38% to R12.5 million from R20.0 million.

Finance costs increased by 122% to R2.0 million from 
R0.9 million due to a R13.0 million shareholders loan. 
The loan was granted to enhance the Group’s financial 
position.

The GBP’s weakening against the USD contributed to 
an increase in the Group’s foreign exchanges losses. 
The effect was 194% to R5.4 million from R1.8 million. 
USD based trade debtors and bank accounts in Avior 
Capital Markets International Limited contributed to the 
increase.

The income tax expense decreased by 150% to an 
expense of R3.1 million from a gain of R6.3 million, which 
was due to the recognition of a deferred tax asset in the 
prior year and a subsequent utilisation in the current 
year.

The net result of the above was a decline in profit for the 
year of 84% to R4.4 million from R26.7 million.

Financial position

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 
increased by 15% to R85.5 million from R74.1 million, due 
to a share issue of R8.6 million and total comprehensive 
income of R3.7 million. 

Consequently, HEPS declined by 77% to 3.55 (cents) 
from 15.7 (cents). Besides a decline in profit in 
operations of R7.5 million, a year-on-year swing in the 
tax expense of R9.4 million and exchange losses of  
R3.5 million accounted for approximately 63% of the 
decline.

The business continues to remain capital light and is 
largely a cash-based business. This is reflected in a 
small non-current asset base relative to current assets. 
Property, plant and equipment increased by 159% 
to R9.4 million from R3.6 million, due to new assets 
acquired to equip the new Johannesburg premises.

Trade and other receivables increased by 62% to  
R9.0 million from R5.5 million largely due to an increase 
in prepaid expenses associated with several managed 
service providers and annual software license renewals 
occurring close to the financial year-end. Margin and 
collateral increased by 29% to R11.0 million from  
R8.6 million, due to an increase in daily JSE trading 
collateral calls.

Segment analysis

The Group has two segments, being the SA operations 
and the UK operations. Revenue and other income for 
SA increased by 8.5% and decreased by 4.3% for the UK. 
The UK’s changes in revenue and other income reflects 
challenging market conditions due to forex loses and a 
difficult regulatory environment (e.g. MiFID II).

Borrowings, cash flow and liquidity

Cash increased by 13% to R71.7 million from  
R63.4 million which was due to cash generative 
operations of R14.0 million and a share issue of  
R8.6 million. Net investing activities of R8.1 million offset 
the increase, with fixed asset additions comprising most 
of this figure.

The Group maintains a low gearing ratio of 15.2% 
(2017: 17.5%) and has historically funded its own 
initiatives. This low gearing ratio combined with its 
recent listing provides additional sources of capital to 
fund strategic initiatives. The only external financing 
is the shareholders loans of R13.0 million with finance 
charges settled monthly.

Conclusion

Avior is positioned to build from the current year. 
Adequate cash reserves will sustain the Group through 
continued challenging market conditions. Moreover, the 
cash reserves will be used to fund new organic initiatives 
as it executes its five-year strategy to 2023.

Finance Director
Justin Larsen

Avior Capital Markets Holdings  •  Integrated Annual Report 2018

22



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BACKGROUND

Avior is committed to exercising ethical and effective leadership to achieve the four governance outcomes:  
ethical culture, good performance, effective control and legitimacy, as advocated in the King IV™ Report.

Avior’s King IV™ application statements and implementation of the King IVTM principles are available on Avior’s website. 

LEADERSHIP, ETHICS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board comprises six Directors of which three are independent, Non-Executive Directors and three are Executive 
Directors. The details of the Directors are on pages 18 - 19 of the IAR.

The Director information for the reporting period is:

Director name Designation 
(Executive/Non-Executive)

Appointment (A)/  
Resignation date (R)

Kevin Stirling Mattison Managing Director/Executive 19 March 2015 (A) 
Peter (Panayioti) Koutromanos Chief Executive Officer/ Executive 

Director
19 March 2015 (A)

Justin Larsen Executive Director 30 December 2017 (A)
Marilyn Ramplin Independent Non-Executive Director 24 April 2017 (A) 
Stephan David Price Independent Non-Executive Director 14 May 2018 (A)
Thabo Vincent Mokgatlha Independent Non-Executive Director 6 June 2018 (A)
Octavia Matshidiso Matloa Independent Non-Executive Director 24 April 2017 (A)

11 May 2018 (R)
Naeem Tilly Executive Director 19 March 2015 (A) 

29 December 2017 (R)
Mark Derrick Collier Independent Non-Executive Director 24 April 2017 (A) 

21 July 2017 (R)
Elias Masilela Independent Non-Executive Director 24 April 2017 (A) 

11 May 2018 (R)

The Board operates in terms of a Board-approved charter, the provisions of which were complied with during the 
year under review. There is a clear division of responsibilities at Board level to ensure a balance of power and 
authority, such that no one individual has unconstrained powers of decision-making. 

The Board is satisfied that its current composition ensures such a balance of power and authority.

Key roles and responsibilities of the Board

The Board’s key roles and responsibilities include, inter alia, the following:

• Promoting the interests of all stakeholders through the formulation and approval of strategy, business plans and 
annual budgets and any subsequent material changes in strategic direction or deviations from business plans.

• Retaining effective control.
• Ultimate accountability and responsibility for the performance and affairs of the Group.
• Adoption of any significant change in accounting policies and practices.
• Approval of AFS and the IAR.
• Appointment of Directors.
• Constitution of Board committees and any changes thereto. 
• Approval of the charters for Board committees.
Chairperson

The Chairperson of the Board is Marilyn Ramplin, an independent Non-Executive Director. The roles of the 
Chairperson and the CEO remained separate throughout the year. 

The Board Charter details the roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and all Board members. The Chairman of 
the Board is a member of the Audit and Risk Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Chief Executive Officer

The CEO of the Company is Peter Koutromanos, who also founded Avior in March 2005. 

A written employment agreement is in place with the CEO and the terms of the agreement is customary to agreements 
of this nature.

The Board continuously considers succession planning for the CEO role. The CEO is supported by a capable executive 
team, namely Kevin Stirling Mattison, who has been with Avior since 2005 and the Finance Director, Justin Larsen. 
The executive team is supported by a dynamic team of employees within their respective roles.

Finance Director

The Finance Director joined Avior in November 2017 and has extensive experience in the financial services sector. 
Justin Larsen acted as interim Finance Director since 30 December 2017 after the resignation of Naeem Tilly.  
Justin Larsen was appointed as Finance Director on 11 June 2018 after the Audit and Risk Committee and Board 
satisfied itself with his experience and qualifications.

Board meetings and attendance.

The Board met five times during the past year. The attendance of such meetings is detailed in the table below:

Director Meetings held Meetings attended
Marilyn Ramplin (Chairperson) 5 5
Peter Koutromanos 5 5
Tilly Naeem 5 3
Kevin Mattison 5 5
Elias Masilela 5 4
Octavia Matshidiso Matloa 5 2
Mark Derrick Collier 5 1
Justin Larsen 5 3

Board performance and independence

Both the effectiveness and ethical leadership of the Board are continuously considered, and any areas of concern 
are addressed as and when they arise. The Board is assessed through an internal evaluation process that deals 
with individual Directors, including the Chairperson, the Board, as well as its various subcommittees. The Board is 
satisfied that it functions effectively and with the independence of Non-Executive Directors classified as such.

Race and gender diversity policies adopted by the Board

Avior believes that race and gender diversity at Board level helps achieve its business goals through an improved 
understanding of the diverse environments in which the Group operates. A truly diverse Board will include, and 
make effective use of differences in age, gender, race, skills, industry experience and other distinctions.

The Board with the assistance of the Nomination Committee, where applicable,  adopted a Race and Gender 
Diversity Policy and is committed to consider and annually agree on measurable targets for achieving race and 
gender diversity.

In 2017, the Board set clear targets up to 2022, with the view of achieving a non-white race mix of 60%. The following 
table depicts the progress made to date and the October 2018 ambition (this excludes UK staff numbers):

Race diversity mix progress

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

31

7
14

23
31 29

36

35

42 46

31 October 2018
goal of 45%.

Currently 39%
at 30 April 2018.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Board subcommittees

The Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements 
dictates the formation of certain Board committees 
as well as their composition and statutory mandates. 
The Board delegated some of its responsibilities to the 
following committees to assist it in the performance of 
its duties, power and authorities:
• Audit and Risk Committee
• Social and Ethics Committee
• Remuneration Committee 
• Executive Committee
Only Directors are appointed as members of the 
committees.

All Board committees act in accordance with Board 
approved terms of references. These terms of references 
set out:

• Inter alia, the composition, purpose, powers and 
authorities of the Board committees, the scope of its 
mandate and the relationship with the Board. 

• It further makes provision for access to the Company’s 
records, facilities, employees and any other resources 
necessary to discharge its duties and responsibilities.

• It prescribes the frequency of and attendance at and 
procedure to be followed in meetings. 

The terms of reference of the various committees are 
reviewed annually and any changes are approved by 
the Board. Each committee’s terms of reference set out 
the delegated authority in respect of decision-making, 
responsibility and fulfilment of its duties. 

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee is a statutory committee 
of the Board appointed in terms of section 94(7) of 
the Companies Act. The Audit and Risk Committee 
convened seven times during the reporting period and 
the membership of the committee are as follows:

Membership during the reporting period:

Director Designation

Octavia Matshidiso Matloa Chairperson*
Elias Masilela Member**
Marilyn Ramplin Member
Mark Derrick Collier**** Member
Peter Koutromanos Invitee
Kevin Stirling Mattison Invitee
Justin Larsen Invitee
Naeem Tilly Invitee**

* Octavia Matshidiso Matloa resigned as a Director on  
11 May 2018.
** Elias Masilela resigned as a Director on 11 May 2018.
***Tilly Naeem resigned as a Director on 29 December 2017.
****Mark Collier resigned as Director on 21 July 2017.

Membership after the reporting period:

Director Designation

Thabo Mokgatlha Chairman*
Stephan Price Member**
Marilyn Ramplin Member
Peter Koutromanos Invitee
Kevin Mattison Invitee
Justin Larsen Invitee

* Thabo Mokgatlha was appointed as Director on  
06 June2018.
** Stephan Price was appointed as Director on  
14 May 2018.

Thabo Mokgatlha was appointed as the Chairman of 
the Committee after his appointment to the Board as 
an independent Non-Executive Director on 6 June 2018.  
The Audit and Risk Committee are satisfied that it 
operated in terms of its Board-approved terms of 
reference. 

A report by the Audit and Risk Committee containing 
details of how the committee discharged its duties and 
responsibilities in the past year has been provided on 
page 42 of this IAR.

Social and Ethics Committee 

The Social and Ethics Committee is a statutory committee 
of the Board established in terms of the Companies Act. 
The responsibilities of the Social and Ethics Committee 
are detailed in its terms of reference, which include 
its duties per the Companies Act, the JSE Listings 
Requirements and King IVTM.

Avior believes in conducting business in a responsible 
manner considering the potential impact of its activities 
on the environment and society at large. Avior also 
supports the promotion and implementation of a 
scorecard approach for achieving the objectives of 
B-BBEE. 

The committee convened twice during the reporting 
period and the membership of the committee are as 
follows:

Membership during the reporting period:

Director Designation

Elias Masilela Chairman*
Peter Koutromanos Member
Naeem Tilly Member**

* Elias Masilela resigned as a Director on 11 May 2018.
**Tilly Naeem resigned as a Director on 29 December 2017.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The Social and Ethics Committee is responsible for 
monitoring the Group’s activities, with due regard for any 
relevant legislation, legal requirements and prevailing 
codes of best practice relating to matters, which include:

• Social and economic development
• Good corporate citizenship
• The environment, health and public safety
• Client relationships
• Labour and employment
The Social and Ethics Committee is satisfied that it 
operated in terms of its Board-approved terms of 
reference. The committee is furthermore satisfied with 
the social and ethical aspects pertaining to Avior, with 
details of its corporate social investment initiatives set 
out on page 30 of this IAR.

Remuneration Committee Membership after the 
reporting period:

The Board combined the Social and Ethics Committee 
and the Remuneration Committee on 11 May 2018.  
The committee is forthwith known as the Social, Ethics 
and Remuneration Committee and the membership is 
as follows:

Director Designation

Stephan Price Chairperson*
Thabo Mokgatlha Member**
Marilyn Ramplin Member
Peter Koutromanos Member
Kevin Stirling Mattison Member

*Stephan Price was appointed as Director on 14 May 2018.
** Thabo Mokgatlha was appointed as Director on 06 June 2018.

The Executive members on the Social, Ethics and 
Remuneration Committee, Mr Koutramanos and  
Mr Mattison, will recuse themselves from any 
consideration to executive remuneration.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee’s composition, duties, 
responsibilities and focus areas are addressed in the 
remuneration report on pages 31 - 34 of this annual 
report.

The Remuneration Committee ensures the Group has a 
competitive remuneration policy which is aligned with 
the Group’s strategic and organisational performance 
objectives to attract and retain the appropriate skill. 

The committee convened four times.

Membership during the reporting period:

Director Designation

Octavia Matshidiso Matloa Chairperson*
Elias Masilela Member**
Marilyn Ramplin Member
Peter Koutromanos Invitee
Kevin Stirling Mattison Invitee

* Octavia Matshidiso Matloa resigned as Director on  
11 May 2018.
** Elias Masilela resigned as Director on 11 May 2018.

Peter Koutromanos and Kevin Mattison attended 
meetings of the Remuneration Committee as invitees 
but did not form part of the said committee’s formal 
decision-making process and recused themselves when 
necessary.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee deals with the operational 
management of the company and implementation of 
the strategy. The three Executive Directors are members 
of the committee.

The Executive Committee convenes at least twice 
a month and invites the relevant management 
representatives to report to the committee.  
Material matters are deliberated on at the committee 
before it is presented to the Board for consideration.

Appointments to the Board

The Board as a whole and, where applicable, through 
the assistance of a Nominations Committee considers 
the appointment of Directors through a formal and 
transparent process. 

Newly appointed Directors are subject to a formal 
induction programme which outlines their fiduciary 
duties and provides an in-depth understanding of the 
business. Directors are also provided with ongoing 
Director development. 

All Non-Executive Directors are provided with a 
letter of appointment and do not have a fixed term 
of appointment. In accordance with the Company’s 
memorandum of incorporation (MOI), all Directors are 
to retire at each annual general meeting. All retiring 
Directors are eligible for re-election. Directors appointed 
during the year are required to have their appointments 
ratified at the following AGM. There is no prescribed 
retirement age for Directors. 

Avior Capital Markets Holdings  •  Integrated Annual Report 2018

26



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Directors are entitled to seek independent professional 
advice at the company’s expense after consultation with 
the Chairperson of the Board. No Directors exercised this 
right during the year. Directors also have unrestricted 
access to all company information. 

Executive Directors are appointed by the Board with the 
assistance of the Nomination Committee for periods as 
the Board deems fit and on such further terms as are set 
out in their service agreements. 

Justin Larsen was appointed as Finance Director on  
11 June 2018 after acting as interim Finance Director 
since 30 December 2017.

Company secretary

Ms Ateeqah Khan resigned as Company Secretary of 
Avior Holdings and Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services 
(Pty) Ltd was appointed as the new Company Secretary 
with effect from 03 May 2018.

The Company Secretary is responsible for Board 
administration, and liaison with the CIPC and the JSE 
through the Designated Advisor. The Board members 
also have access to legal and other expertise when 
required and at the cost of the Company through the 
Company Secretary. The Board is satisfied with the 
availability of legal and other expertise on offer.

The Company Secretary maintains a professional 
relationship with Board members, giving direction on 
matters such as good corporate governance, if required. 
The Board assessed the qualifications, experience 
and competence of the individuals employed by the 
Company Secretary at the time of appointment and was 
satisfied with same. The Board is satisfied that an arms-
length relationship exists with the Company Secretary.

The certificate that the Company Secretary is required to 
issue in terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, is 
included on page 38 of this IAR.

Risk management and internal control

The Board is accountable for Avior’s process of 
risk management and systems of internal control.  
Avior operates in a highly regulated environment and 
robust risk management processes are imperative to 
the Company.

Risk management forms an integral part of normal 
business practice, with a culture of risk awareness 
promoted throughout the Group. Key to this is 
management working together to identify the significant 
risks that the Group faces and developing mitigation 
plans. This includes implementing appropriate internal 
controls and identifying risk owners to take responsibility 
for individual risks and the management of those risks.

Risk management plans and processes are presented, 
discussed and approved at Audit and Risk Committee 
meetings in line with the Audit and Risk Committee’s 
work plan for the year. The process encompasses both 
an enterprise-wide risk assessment and divisional 
assessments. The plans and processes include risk 
registers detailing significant strategic and operational 
risks facing the Group, existing controls, perceived 
control effectiveness and the level of risk tolerance. 
While the Group has high-level risk classifications which 
determine the degree of response, the Group is in 
the process of working to define further granular risk 
tolerance levels.

To further bolster its control environment, the Board 
has also been busy with the evaluation and appointment 
of internal auditors. This selection of an appropriate 
internal auditor and execution thereof will take place 
during the 2019 financial year.

Avior Capital Markets Holdings •  Integrated Annual Report 2018

27



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Key risks

Avior has identified the following key risks and areas of focus within the Group:

# Description

Probability 
assuming no 

mitigating 
controls Impact Further commentary and controls

1 The Group’s ability 
to meet it’s financial 
obligations and the 
maintenance of working 
capital.

Medium High • Avior operates through an Executive Committee 
that manages a dashboard of metrics, designed 
to ensure that the Group has a good sense of 
how individual business units perform.

• Daily cash management is undertaken by 
the appropriate individuals with overall cash 
management undertaken by the Finance Director. 

• Executive management assesses the profitability 
of individual business units and evaluated 
corrective measures. 

2 Unnecessarily expending 
resources on activities 
that will not yield the 
desired objectives.

High Low • Strategy review and goal setting is embedded into 
regular interaction with executive management 
and business unit management.

• Avior’s strategy is formulated by the Group 
Executives and heads of business based on 
the Group’s objectives. This is documented 
with implementation monitored to ensure that 
progress is being made so that, ultimately, the 
desired objectives are achieved.

3 The inability to attract 
and recruit and retain 
competent, skilled, 
experienced and talented 
individuals.

Medium Medium • Recruitment and assessment procedures go 
beyond the conventional and decisions around 
key skills are discussed at different levels of the 
organisation.

• Reward and incentive mechanisms are very 
important and have been implemented at both 
the operating entity level and at a Group level. 
These include a combination of market-related 
salaries and short- and long-term incentives.

4 BEE and transformation 
legislation and its 
increasing imperative 
means that the current 
level of compliance 
may not be sufficient to 
secure business.

High High • Avior has formed a senior management team to 
drive and manage a sustainable BEE strategy for 
the Group. 

• BEE is now a regular Executive Committee and 
Board topic where progress and strategic options 
are regularly evaluated.

• Introduction of an EE committee that drives a BEE 
agenda at a business unit level.
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# Description

Probability 
assuming no 

mitigating 
controls Impact Further commentary and controls

5 Non-compliance in 
terms of the regulations 
that govern the various 
business activities within 
the Group, some of 
which are onerous  
(e.g. JSE CAPAD rules).

High High • Dedicated personnel are appointed at operational 
level to monitor compliance and interact with 
regulators as required.

• Implementation and rollout of annual 
improvement projects and the regular monitoring 
of progress made.

6 Avior operates in a 
highly competitive 
market, where the 
products are relatively 
commoditised. Price and 
service factors are an 
important consideration, 
which could have a 
significant impact on the 
performance.

High High • The Group’s strategy is formulated by the 
Executives and heads of business based on 
the Group’s objectives. This is documented 
with implementation monitored to ensure that 
progress is being made so that, ultimately, the 
desired objectives are achieved.

7 Insufficient and/or 
inappropriate risk 
management and 
mitigation processes at 
a Group and operational 
level.

Medium Medium • Avior assesses risk from the top-down, based 
on the potential risks to achieving its strategic 
objectives, while operating businesses consider 
risks that are particular to their respective 
businesses.

• Risks are documented in risk registers which 
are submitted to the Group Audit and Risk 
Committee, where risks are categorised in terms 
of the priority they should be dealt with.

• Dedicated personnel are appointed at operational 
level to execute on risk mitigating and control 
strategies.

• Appointment of internal auditors to further 
support and enhance the control framework.

8 Significant reliance on 
information technology 
and communication 
systems. This is a 
pervasive risk that affects 
the Group as a whole.

High High • IT risks are incorporated into and managed 
together with the general risks as detailed above.

• Avior maintains an offsite disaster recovery site to 
ensure critical operations are not affected.

• The Group has adopted a cloud strategy to 
ensure redundancy of operations in the event 
required.
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CREATING VALUE

Our objective is to create value not only from a monetary 
perspective, but from a broader societal perspective.  
Avior supports the promotion and implementation of a 
scorecard approach for achieving the objectives of B-BBEE. 
Avior actively seeks to develop disenfranchised communities 
in SA through the development of skills. We firmly believe 
that investment in skills development will have a long-term 
positive impact on the South African economy.

Some of the key value creation initiatives undertaken during 
the current financial year were:

• Avior actively seeks and recruits talented historically 
disadvantaged individuals to complement our team and 
have initiated a graduate and intern program in both our 
South African offices to support this drive.

• Avior supports Tsiba College in Cape Town which provides 
first class tertiary education to previously disadvantaged 
individuals. We donate at least 1% of profits to this 
deserving organisation. 

• Avior has sponsored two disabled learners to participate 
in the training programmes at the LFP Training Academy. 
LFP Training Academy is an accredited training institution 
offering learnerships that are acknowledged by the 
Department of Education and across the various SETA’s.

During the previous financial year, Avior was measured as 
a Financial Services Sector Charter Generic Enterprise and 
achieved a level 5 B-BBEE contributor status. 

For the current financial year, the entire Avior Group is being 
measured in accordance with the Amended Financial Services 
Charter. The verification process is ongoing, and the results 
thereof will be published by 30 September 2018.
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REMUNERATION REPORT

Part 1: Background 

The remuneration report for the financial year ended 30 April 2018 sets out Avior’s current remuneration policy and 
strategy, the implementation and disclosure of remuneration for Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors. 
The report also sets out the remuneration policy and strategy for all other employees. 

The information provided in this report was approved by the Board on the recommendation of the Remuneration 
Committee.  The primary responsibilities of the committee includes:

• Ensuring the remuneration policy is aligned to and promotes the achievement of the Group’s strategic objectives 
and encourages individual performance.

• Ensuring that annual benchmarking gets conducted on remuneration inclusive of benefits and incentives to 
Directors and employees.

• Reviewing and approving the performance evaluation of the CEO and other Executive Directors against agreed 
deliverables.

• Reviewing incentive schemes to ensure alignment to shareholder value creation and that the schemes are 
administered in terms of the rules.

• Reviewing the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors and making recommendations to shareholders in this 
regard.

Avior believes that great people are the foundation of its success and in this regard Avior has defined the following 
principles on how the remuneration policies are defined:

• Avior must have the right people in the right positions and so strives to offer remuneration packages that are 
competitive in the market.

• Pay for performance is at the heart of the remuneration philosophy and we encourage all employees to set and 
achieve ambitious goals aligned to the Group. 

• Exceptional performance is recognised and rewarded.

• All remuneration policies and practices are free from unfair discrimination based on disability, race, gender, age, 
religion, marital status and ethnic or social origin.

• Employ on a total cost-to-company approach for remuneration.

• Short-term incentive schemes are designed to encourage, recognise and reward performance.

• Long-term incentive schemes create a sense of ownership in the Group and help to retain strategic staff members.

• Ensuring that remuneration is done in a manner that is equitable to all stakeholders and sustainable for the 
business.

Part 2:  Remuneration policy

Remuneration governance

The Board is ultimately responsible for the remuneration policy and is assisted in fulfilling its responsibilities by the 
Remuneration Committee.  This committee is a subcommittee of the Board and consists of a majority of independent 
Non-Executive Directors. The overarching purpose of the Remuneration Committee is to consider, agree on and 
recommend to the Board an overall remuneration policy and philosophy for the Group.

Remuneration elements - Summary

The remuneration policy covers three remuneration elements:

• Base compensation and benefits (financial and non-financial).

• Short-term incentives.

• Long-term incentives.
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Base compensation

Base pay is the cash component of the initial cost-to-
company amount an employee is offered in exchange 
for services. It does not include benefits, bonuses or any 
other potential compensation from Avior. An employee’s 
base pay can be expressed as an annual or monthly 
guaranteed salary.

Base compensation is reviewed on an annual basis.  
The factors considered when determining an increase 
are:

• Cost of living escalation.

• The performance of the staff member.

• Compensation at competitors.

• The need to retain the employee given:

• The value of the staff member’s skills and expertise 
in the marketplace.

• The importance retention of the staff member has 
in meeting the Group’s strategic objectives.

Base compensation elements

Insured benefits

• Permanent employees of Avior are eligible to join 
Avior’s pension fund schemes. 

• Employees contribute a minimum 2% of pensionable 
earnings towards the pension fund. 

• The Group’s contribution towards the employee’s 
pension fund benefit starts at 2% and increases by 
1% for each year of completed service, and is capped 
at 10%. 

Medical Aid gap cover benefits

• Medical aid gap cover benefits are offered to all 
permanent employees.

• A monthly premium is paid by the Group on behalf of 
employees who register for this benefit. 

• The condition for membership is that the employee 
has to be a member of a registered medical aid in 
South Africa.

Medical Aid Scheme

• The medical aid premium is included in the total cost-
to-company amount and is treated as a deduction 
from earnings. 

• Medical aid membership, whether as a main member 
or dependent, is a condition of employment and is 
mandatory.

Quarterly performance-based pay

• In certain operational areas of the business 
performance is highly measurable. In these instances, 
guaranteed monthly salary is supplemented with 
performance-based-pay to reward staff for their 
contributions to the business. 

• Targets are reviewed and adjusted as required at 
the discretion of management to drive continuous 
improvements in the areas concerned.

Other potential benefits for qualifying staff

• Educational assistance at the discretion of 
management.

• Mobile phones. 

• Uber usage. 

• Additional five annual leave days for employees with 
five years’ service or more.

Short-term incentives

Short-term incentives are designed to encourage and 
reward performance over a three to twelve-month 
period. A discretionary or contractual bonus may be 
granted as recognition and reward for performance 
against key performance indicators and noteworthy 
contributions. 

Targets are set at a company or divisional level 
using key performance indicators.  Cross company 
calibration ensures alignment with Group objectives and 
shareholder interests.

Bonuses, presented to the Remuneration Committee 
and the Board for approval, are at the discretion of 
management and there is no guarantee nor promise to 
pay a discretionary bonus.

When assessing a member’s qualification for a bonus 
the following are considered:

• The individual’s conformance with the culture, value 
and policies of the company.

• New business identified.

• Customer feedback.

• Overall employment package competitiveness.

• Key performance indicators and key financial ratios.

• Group, Company and division performance.

Final payments, in general, are based on the audited 
year-end results and take place in August.
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Long-term incentives 

Long-term incentives encourage alignment with long-term 
shareholder interests and are used to drive longer-term performance, 
retain key people and create opportunities for individuals to share in 
the Group’s success.

The Group has implemented the following share schemes to 
incentivise and/or retain eligible employees of the Avior Group:

• Employee Retention Plan.

• Employee Performance and Retention Plan.

Staff are typically eligible for the share scheme after two years of 
employment. However, exceptions to the rule may be made based 
on, for example, staff performance and the strategic nature of the 
role or staff skillsets.

Annual salary review process

The annual salary review process provides an opportunity to adjust 
salaries in line with the market, and takes place between January to 
February each year, with increases effective in March. 

The Remuneration Committee determines the overall percentage 
increase to the salary bill, considering demand for scarce and 
critical skills, changes to the national cost of living, benchmarks 
where required, and business performance and affordability.  
Performance is primarily rewarded through the incentive structures, 
not through the salary increase process.

Interim increases may be awarded during the year at the discretion 
of senior management, under the following circumstances:

• Successful internal recruitment to a higher-paying role.

• Qualification and passing certain exams.

• Promotion to a higher level.

Non-Executive Director remuneration

The following principles apply to Non-Executive Director remuneration:

• Fees are structured as an annual retainer component. 

• Fees are reviewed annually and are proposed at the AGM for 
approval.

• Non-Executive Directors do not participate in the Group’s annual 
bonus plan or in any of its long-term incentive plans.

• The Non-Executive Directors do not have contracts of employment 
with the Group and are appointed in terms of the Company’s 
MOI, confirmed at the first AGM of shareholders following their 
appointment, and thereafter at the requisite intervals when they 
retire by rotation in terms of the MOI.

• Annual assessments of independence and performance are 
conducted in respect of the Non-Executive Directors.
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Director short-term incentives

Director short-term incentives are based on a discretionary bonus pool. Bonuses are approved by the Remuneration 
Committee.  The factors considered in determining the bonus pool, and the allocation at an individual Director level, 
are determined based on financial and non-financial metrics, as described in further detail below.

The financial metrics are based on the following:

• Normalised HEPS growth – this is a key metric upon which share price appreciation and shareholder wealth 
creation is measured.

• ROE – this is a prominent measure in the market amongst most stakeholders in businesses that have a high 
capital demand as well as those that have proprietary investments on balance sheet, as it is a good representation 
of management’s effective use and return on shareholders’ equity.

• Specific revenue or net profit earned – successful projects, new business or division buildouts contribute to a 
sustainable business.  

The non-financial metrics are based on the following:

• Clients and products – retention rates, customer segment growth, geographic expansion, business volumes and 
new products are considered key to business sustainability.

• Leadership and human capital – incorporate relationships with management, business owners, shareholders, 
other stakeholders (e.g. analysts) which are key to the successful and ongoing sustainability.

• Risk and control – risk, processes and compliance are an essential element in ensuring sound corporate governance 
and effective decision making.

Part 3: Implementation report

This is the first year the Group is reporting on its remuneration policy. The Group is in the process of updating its 
staff performance metrics and will report against these in the next annual report.

Refer to page 63 in the AFS section for Non-Executive Director, Director and appointed officer remuneration 
disclosures. No short-term incentives or long-term incentive awards were granted to the Directors during the current 
financial year. The proposed Non-Executive Directors’ fees are disclosed on page 95 of this report.

Approval

This remuneration report was recommended by the committee on 13 August 2018 for approval by the Board. 
Approval was granted on 13 August 2018.

Stephen Price
Remuneration Committee Chairman
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Country of incorporation and domicile South Africa

Nature of business and principal activities Holding company for Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited which 
trades as a provider of financial services and other directly and 
indirectly related services as a member of the JSE Limited.

Directors Koutromanos P  
Mattison KS  
Larsen J  
Ramplin M  
Price SD  
Mokgatlha TV

Registered office 11th Floor South Tower  
140 West Street  
Sandton  
2196

Postal address PO Box 651856 Benmore 2010

Bankers Standard Bank Limited

Auditors BDO South Africa Incorporated  
Chartered Accountants (SA)  
Registered Auditors

Secretary Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Pty) Limited

Level of assurance These consolidated financial statements were audited as required 
by the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Section 
30(2)(a) of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Preparer The consolidated annual financial statements were independently 
compiled by Northplan Chartered Accountants Incorporated 
under the supervision of the Group Finance Director, Justin Larsen 
CA (SA).

Issued 31 August 2018
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and to prepare AFS that fairly 
represent the state of affairs and the results of the Company and Group. The external auditor is responsible for 
independently auditing and reporting on the fair presentation of the AFS.

Management fulfils this responsibility primarily by establishing and maintaining accounting systems and practices 
adequately supported by internal accounting controls. Such controls provide assurance that the Group’s assets 
are safeguarded, that transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorisations and that the 
financial records are reliable. The AFS are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and its interpretations as adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board; the South African 
Institute of Chartered Accountants Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee; 
and financial pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council; the manner required by the 
Companies Act of South Africa; and the JSE Listings Requirements and incorporate full and reasonable disclosure.  
Appropriate and recognised accounting policies are applied consistently.

The Audit and Risk Committee of the Group meets regularly with the external auditor, as well as senior management, 
to evaluate matters concerning accounting policies, internal control, auditing and financial reporting. The external 
auditor has unrestricted access to all records, assets and personnel as well as to the Audit and Risk Committee.

The AFS are prepared on the going concern basis since the Directors have every reason to believe that the Group has 
adequate resources to continue for the foreseeable future.

The AFS set out on pages 42 - 90, were approved by the Board of Directors of Avior Capital Markets Holdings Ltd and 
are signed on its behalf by:

Peter Koutromanos Justin Larsen 
Chief Executive Officer Finance Director
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PREPARER OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Avior Capital Market Holdings Limited’s financial statements for the period ended 30 April 2018 have been prepared 
under the supervision of the Finance Director, Justin Larsen CA (SA) and audited in compliance with the Companies Act.

Justin Larsen
Finance Director

CERTIFICATE BY THE COMPANY SECRETARY

I declare that, since our appointment as company secretary on 3 May 2018 and to the best of my knowledge, the 
company has filed all such returns and notices as are required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act, 
and that all such returns and notices are true, correct and up to date.

Melinda Gous
Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Pty) Limited
Company Secretary
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors have the pleasure in submitting their report on the consolidated AFS of Avior Capital Markets Holdings 
Limited for the year ended 30 April 2018. These consolidated AFS were independently audited by the Group’s 
auditors, BDO.

1. Nature of business

Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited was incorporated in South Africa as a provider of financial services 
which includes stock broking (i.e. equities, derivatives and fixed income), research, corporate broking 
as a member of the JSE. The Group operates in three key regions being South Africa, Frontier markets  
(i.e. Africa and Middle East) and the UK.

There have been no material changes to the nature of the Group’s business from the prior year.

2. Review of financial results and activities

The Group recorded a net profit after tax for the year ended 30 April 2018 of R4 368 220. This represented a 
decrease of 84% from the net profit after tax of the prior year of R26 793 947.

Group revenue increased by 5% from R168 529 868 in the prior year to R176 992 142 for the year ended  
30 April 2018.

Group cash flows from operating activities decreased by 35% from R20 425 514 in the prior year to R14 021 674 
for the year ended 30 April 2018.

3. Share capital 

2018 2017

Number of shares
Authorised
Ordinary shares 400 000 000 400 000 000

2018 2017 2018 2017

R R Number of shares
Issued
Ordinary shares 8 647 754 14 146 146 285 100 141 457 900

At the start of the financial year under review, Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited was the holding company of 
the Group.

To facilitate the listing of the Group on the JSE’s AltX, a new holding company, Avior Capital Markets Holdings 
Limited was formed with the ownership of the Group’s subsidiaries transferred to this entity with the exception 
of Groombridge Nominees (Pty) Limited (SA).

To ensure that Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited had the minimum number of public shareholders upon 
listing, a private placement of shares in Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited was offered to select investors 
prior to the Group listing. As a result, the Company issued 57 558 Class B ordinary shares at a price of R150 on  
18 May 2017.

Upon the listing of the Group on the JSE’s AltX on 6 June 2017, a share exchange agreement came into effect, in 
terms of which each shareholder of Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited was granted 100 shares in Avior Capital 
Markets Holdings Limited for every share held. Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited became a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited.

The number of shares at 30 April 2017 is not the actual number of the shares in issue at the time. It has been 
adjusted in line with the increased number of shares (at a 100:1 ratio) as per the listing to provide a comparable 
number. The Class A and Class B ordinary share categories were also collapsed into a single ordinary share 
category upon listing. Consequently, the earnings per share and headline earning per share were updated 
accordingly for comparison purposes.
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4. Authority to buy back shares

In accordance with section 38 of the Companies Act, the Directors are authorised to issue the unissued shares 
of the Company. In addition to the authority granted to the Directors in terms of the Companies Act and in 
accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, shareholders at the 2017 annual general meeting also granted 
a general authority to the Directors to issue shares for cash, which authority would remain valid until the 
next annual general meeting. It is anticipated that the general authority to issue shares for cash granted by 
shareholders at the 2017 annual general meeting will be renewed at the 2018 annual general meeting and to 
this extent, an ordinary resolution (requiring the approval of at least 75%) has been included in the 2018 notice 
of annual general meeting for consideration by shareholders.

927 500 shares were repurchased on 05 May 2017 at an average price of R0.96 per share during the current 
year in terms of this general authority. This event took place prior to Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited’s 
listing on the JSE’s AltX and the share exchange transaction on 06 June 2017.

5. Control over unissued shares

In accordance with section 38 of the Companies Act, the Directors are authorised to issue the unissued shares 
of the Company. In addition to the authority granted to the Directors in terms of the Companies Act and in 
accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, shareholders at the 2017 annual general meeting also granted 
a general authority to the Directors to issue shares for cash, which authority would remain valid until the 
next annual general meeting. It is anticipated that the general authority to issue shares for cash granted by 
shareholders at the 2017 annual general meeting will be renewed at the 2018 annual general meeting and to 
this extent, an ordinary resolution (requiring the approval of at least 75%) has been included in the 2018 notice 
of annual general meeting for consideration by shareholders.

6. Dividends

The Group’s dividend policy is to consider an interim and a final dividend in respect of each financial year. At its 
discretion, the Board may consider a special dividend, where appropriate. Depending on the perceived need to 
retain funds for expansion or operating purposes, the Board may pass on the payment of dividends.

Given the current state of the global economic environment, the Board believes that it would be more 
appropriate for the Group to conserve cash and maintain adequate debt headroom to ensure that the Group 
is best placed to withstand any prolonged adverse economic conditions. Therefore, the Board has resolved not 
to declare a dividend for the financial year ended 30 April 2018.

7. Directorate

The Directors in office at the date of this report are as follows, including those that resigned during the current 
period:

Directors Designation Changes
Koutromanos P Executive
Mattison KS Executive
Larsen J Executive Appointed 30 December 2017
Tilly N Executive Resigned 29 December 2017
Matloa OM Non-Executive Independent Resigned 18 May 2018
Masilela E Non-Executive Independent Resigned 18 May 2018
Ramplin M Non-Executive Independent Appointed 24 April 2017
Collier MD Non-Executive Independent Resigned 21 July 2017
Price SD Non-Executive Independent Appointed 14 May 2018
Mokgatlha TV Non-Executive Independent Appointed 06 June 2018

8. Directors’ interests in shares

Interests in shares 2018 2017 2018 2017
Directors Direct Direct Indirect Indirect
Koutromanos P - - 87 228 364 85 898 200
Mattison KS 46 420 593 45 758 400 - -

46 420 593 45 758 400 87 228 364 85 898 200
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9. Interests in subsidiaries and joint ventures

The following subsidiaries and joint ventures contributed towards profit or loss for the period:

Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited (SA) R511 201
Avior Capital Markets International Limited (UK) R4 581 856 
Avior Wealth Services (Pty) Limited previously named Avior ETF Funds (Pty) Limited (R241 169) 
A-Trade (Pty) Limited (R50 000)
Avior Capital Investments (RF) (Pty) Limited R16 330

10. Events after the reporting period

Refer to note 38.

11. Going concern

The Directors believe that the Group has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future and accordingly the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. The Directors have satisfied themselves that the Group is in a sound financial position and 
that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its foreseeable cash requirements. The Directors 
are not aware of any new material changes that may adversely impact the Group. The Directors are also not 
aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements or of any pending changes to 
legislation which may affect the Group in the near future.

12. Auditors

BDO South Africa Incorporated was appointed as Group auditors for the 2018 financial year.

PKF (vga) Chartered Accountants (PKF) resigned as the Group’s external auditors with effect from 7 February 
2018. The resignation of PKF was pursuant to the Board of Directors communicating that the Group was 
considering changing its external auditors. PKF also indicated in its resignation correspondence that, due to an 
internal reorganisation within PKF, it was unable to devote sufficient time to the affairs of the Group.

13. Secretary

The Group’s Company Secretary is Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Pty) Limited.
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit and Risk Committee (the Committee) is an independent statutory committee appointed by the Board of 
Directors in terms of section 94 of the Companies Act of South Africa (Companies Act). The Committee also acts as 
the statutory audit committee of Avior Capital Markets’ wholly-owned subsidiaries that are legally required to have 
such a committee.

The Committee operates in terms of a Board-approved charter. It conducted its affairs in compliance with, and 
discharged its responsibilities in terms of, its charter for the year ended 30 April 2018.

The Committee performed the following duties in respect of the year under review:

• Satisfied itself that the external auditor is independent of Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited, as set out in 
section 94(8) of the Companies Act, and suitable for reappointment by considering, inter alia, the information 
stated in paragraph 22.15(h) of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements.

• Ensured that the appointment of the external auditor complied with the Companies Act.

• In consultation with management, agreed to the engagement letter, terms, audit plan and budgeted audit fees 
for the 2018 financial year.

• Approved the nature and extent of non-audit services that the external auditor may provide.

• Nominated for re-election at the annual general meeting, BDO as the external audit firm.

• Satisfied itself, based on the information and explanations supplied by management and obtained through 
discussions with the external auditor, that the system of internal financial controls is effective and forms a basis 
for the preparation of reliable financial statements.

• Satisfied itself, based on the information and explanations supplied by management and obtained through 
discussions with the external auditor, that Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited be regarded as a going concern.

• Reviewed the formal policy for and calculation of Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited’s ordinary dividend and 
confirmed that no dividends were declared.

• Reviewed the accounting policies and consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2018 and, 
based on the information provided to the Committee, considers that the Company and Group complies, in all 
material respects, with the requirements of, International Financial Reporting Standards; the SAICA Financial 
Reporting Guides, as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee; the Financial Reporting Pronouncements, 
as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council; the manner required by the Companies Act; and the JSE 
Limited Listings Requirements. 

• Satisfied itself in terms of paragraph 3.84(g)(i) of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements that the Group Finance 
Director, as well as the Group finance function, has the appropriate expertise and experience.

• BDO South Africa Incorporated has served as external auditor of Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited since 29 
March 2018.

Thabo Mokgatlha
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited and its 
subsidiaries (the Group) set out on pages 47 - 90, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 30 April 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in funds and reserves and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 30 April 2018, and its financial performance and consolidated cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 
of South Africa.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Independent Regulatory 
Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence 
requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements 
applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B). We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2017 were audited by another auditor who 
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 28 July 2017.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.

1. Employee Share Scheme

Key Audit Matter Audit Response

Refer also to Note 24 (page 75)
The Group operates an Employee Share Scheme.
Accounting for the scheme is based on contractual 
arrangements and approved remuneration policies 
implemented within the Group. The share scheme was 
subject to amendment during the reporting period 
necessitated by the listing of the Holding company on 
the Alt-X.

Our audit procedures included, amongst others:
• Evaluated the amendments to the contract for the 

rights and obligations of the parties;
• Utilised our technical accounting department 

to review the historical and future accounting 
treatment of the share scheme in terms of IFRS 2: 
Share-based payment;

The shares held originally by the participants in the 
main trading subsidiary were exchanged for shares in 
the newly listed Holding company.

The restructuring of the Group, listing of the holding 
company and the related changes in the share scheme 
resulted in significant work being performed on the 
Share scheme. Due to the complexity of the accounting 
treatment and the significant work effort required 
by the audit team the employee share scheme is 
considered a key audit matter.

• Assessed the commercial substance of the share 
scheme and the related share loans;

• Agreed the final shareholding of the participants to 
the Company’s share registers and re- performed 
the calculation for the conversion of the shares and 
compared to results from managements calculation;

• Considered the share loans for impairment with 
reference to the value of the underlying shares 
pledged as security; and

• Confirmed outstanding balances of the share loans 
with individual employees at year-end.

Avior Capital Markets Holdings •  Integrated Annual Report 2018

43
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2. Revenue Recognition

Key Audit Matter Audit Response

Refer also to Note 4 (page 62)
The current market conditions and the significant 
volumes of revenue transactions during the year 
increases the risk of inappropriate revenue recognition. 
There is a risk that revenue is not recognised in 
accordance with the stated accounting policies and 
pricing mandates, or that income is recognised in a 
period to which it does not relate.

The diversity of the Group’s activities results in a 
number of different revenue streams.

In brokering and derivative trading, the high volume of 
transactions relies on a highly automated environment.

The extent of audit effort to obtain audit evidence 
regarding the accuracy, completeness and occurrence 
of the various revenue streams, and test the automated 
environments, which initiate and recognise revenue, 
result in a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included, amongst others:
• Determined whether the accounting treatment for all 

the significant revenue streams were in accordance 
with the relevant accounting standards;

• Determined the impact of the new revenue standard 
(IFRS 15) on revenue recognition effective for the 
next reporting period;

• Used our information technology audit specialists 
to evaluate the general control environment and 
impact of service providers on the systems which 
initiate and recognise revenue;

• Assessed and considered appropriate to place 
reliance on the controls operating at service 
organisations over the trading and Broker Deal 
Administration system (BDA system);

• Tested key controls relating to brokerage fees 
for operating effectiveness throughout the 
financial reporting period, including whether key 
reconciliations were performed;

• Agreed the brokerage revenue to the JSE BDA 
system reports and tested substantively a sample 
of trades to supporting documents including trade 
instructions, mandates, contract notes, statements, 
client confirmations and receipts of fees to bank 
statements;

• Accuracy of brokerage charges was tested by 
agreeing to client mandates and recalculating fees 
charged on a sample basis;

• Evaluated the remaining revenue streams for 
accuracy, completeness and occurrence with 
reference to supporting documents for initiating the 
transactions, recording of the transactions as well as 
receipt of the revenue on a sample basis;

• Information Technology audit specialist performed 
reconciliations between the revenue per the BDA 
system and the accounting system for the revenue 
transactional database to ensure the accounting 
records are complete;

• Verified the appropriate cut-off of revenues at year-
end by testing a sample of transactions before and 
after year-end; and

• Used data analytics tool to test manual adjustments 
to revenue for appropriateness and commercial 
substance.
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3. Recognition of Deferred Tax Asset – United Kingdom

Key Audit Matter Audit Response

Refer also to Note 15 (page 72)
The Group carries significant deferred tax assets, only 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available to utilise all or part of the asset 
in future.

When considering the availability of future taxable 
profits, judgement is applied by management when 
assessing the projections of the future taxable income 
which are based on approved business plan and cash 
flow projections.

Due to the significant estimation and judgement 
involved by management and the work effort from the 
audit team, this matter was considered to be a key 
audit matter.

Our audit procedures included, amongst others:
• Involving our tax specialists to evaluate the 

recognition and measurement of the deferred tax 
asset by analysing the deferred;

• Tax calculation for compliance with the relevant tax 
legislation;

• Evaluating management’s assessment of the 
estimated manner in which the temporary 
differences, including the recoverability of the 
deferred tax assets, would be realised by agreeing 
to cash flow forecasts, business plans, and our 
knowledge of the business, including assessing 
Company performance against previous forecasts; 
and

• Challenging the assumptions made by management 
for uncertain deferred tax positions to assess 
whether appropriate deferred tax provisions have 
been recognised and are based on the most probable 
outcome.

Other Information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Report, the 
Audit Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate as required by the Companies Act of South Africa, 
which we obtained prior to the date of this report, and the Annual Report, which is expected to be made available to 
us after that date. The other information does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information; we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors’ for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South 
Africa, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our opinion.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that 
BDO South Africa Incorporated has been the auditor of Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited for 1 year.

BDO South Africa Incorporated  
Director: Daniel Botha Registered Auditor

27 July 2018

22 Wellington Road, Parktown, 2193
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND  
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Notes 2018 2017

Operating revenue 4 176 992 142 168 529 868
Other income 5 4 155 747 1 731 653

Total revenue 181 147 889 170 261 521

Operating expenses 6 (168 667 133) (150 276 536)

Profit from operations  12 480 756 19 984 985

Net interest received 415 137 2 331 215
Investment income 7 2 390 135 3 209 026
Finance costs 8 (1 974 998) (877 812)
Foreign exchange losses for the year (5 358 769) (1 822 583)
Share of loss in equity-accounted investee 9 (50 000)

Profit before taxation 7 487 124 20 493 617

Income tax expense 10 (3 118 904) 6 300 330

Profit for the year  4 368 220 26 793 947

Other comprehensive income: 
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: 

Exchange differences on translating foreign operation (676 512) (6 194 822)

Other comprehensive income for the year net of taxation  (676 512) (6 194 822)

Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year 3 691 708 20 599 125

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 11 2.99 15.78
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
as at 30 April 2018

Notes 2018 2017

Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 9 366 046 3 614 651
Intangible assets 14 667 945 419 454
Loans to Directors, managers and employees 17 1 508 364 -
Deferred tax 15 14 371 676 16 874 345
Loan receivable 16 579 138 750 000

26 493 169 21 658 450

Current Assets
Loans to Directors, managers and employees 17 797 516 2 946 505
Margin and collateral accounts 18 11 027 981 8 574 583
Trade and other receivables 19 8 945 038 5 519 447
Financial assets held for trading 20 47 946 3 064 864
Current tax receivable 2 641 773 1 102 971
Amounts receivable in respect of stock broking activities 21 373 499 993 46 973 900
Cash and cash equivalents 22 71 710 133 63 435 808

468 670 380 131 618 078

Total Assets 495 163 549 153 276 528

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Share capital 23 8 647 754 14 146
Reserves (6 237 638) (5 561 126)
Retained income 83 103 262 79 617 120

85 513 378 74 070 140

Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Loans from related parties 25 13 000 251 13 000 251
Current Liabilities
Amounts payable in respect of stock broking activities 26 374 744 959 41 589 998
Current tax payable 268 327 4 299
Financial liabilities held for trading 27 555 191 2 668 353
Loans from related parties 25 128 222 97 235
Operating lease liability 452 732 377 374
Trade and other payables 28 20 500 489 21 468 878

396 649 920 66 206 137

Total Liabilities 409 650 171 79 206 388

Total Equity and Liabilities 495 163 549 153 276 528
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share 
capital

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

Total
reserves

Retained
income

Total 
equity

Balance at 01 May 2016 17 216 633 706 633 706 82 026 604 82 677 526

Profit for the year - - - 26 793 947 26 793 947
Other comprehensive income - (6 194 832) (6 194 832) - (6 194 832)

Total comprehensive income for the year - (6 194 832) (6 194 832) 26 793 947 20 599 115

Purchase of own shares (3 070) - - (29 203 431) (29 206 501)

Total contributions by and distributions to 
owners of Group recognised directly in equity (3 070) - - (29 203 431) (29 206 501)

Balance at 01 May 2017 14 146 (5 561 126) (5 561 126) 79 617 120 74 070 140

Profit for the year - - - 4 368 220 4 368 220
Other comprehensive income - (676 512) (676 512) - (676 512)

Total comprehensive income for the year - (676 512) (676 512) 4 368 220 3 691 708

Issue of shares 8 633 700 - - - 8 633 700
Purchase of own shares (92) - - (882 078) (882 170)

Total contributions by and distributions to 
owners of Group recognised directly in equity 8 633 608 - - (882 078) 7 751 530

Balance at 30 April 2018 8 647 754 (6 237 638) (6 237 638) 83 103 262 85 513 378

Note 23
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Notes 2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 29 15 591 461 21 005 009
Investment income 2 191 252 2 779 406
Dividend income 49 34 149
Finance costs (1 944 011) (757 985)
Tax paid 30 (1 817 077) (2 635 065)

Net cash from operating activities 14 021 674 20 425 514

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 13 (7 929 099) (1 813 348)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 70 976 -
Acquisition of intangible assets 14 (414 997) (338 775)
Loans advanced to Directors and employees (845 915) -
Receipts from loans to Directors and employees 967 508 -
Proceeds on disposal of financial assets held for trading 3 012 771 -
Repayment of financial liabilities held for trading (2 113 162) -
Loan advanced to equity-accounted investee (310 000) -
Acquisition of equity-accounted investee (500 000) -

Net cash from investing activities (8 061 918) (2 152 123)

Cash flows from financing activities
Share issue 23 8 633 700 -
Repurchase of shares 23 (212 040) (29 025 554)
Proceeds from loans from related parties - 13 000 251

Net cash from financing activities 8 421 660 (16 025 303)

Total cash movement for the year 14 381 416 2 248 088
Cash at the beginning of the year 63 435 808 59 904 723
Effect of exchange rate movement on cash balances (6 107 091) 1 282 997

Total cash at end of the year 22 71 710 133 63 435 808
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Corporate information
Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited is a public company incorporated and domiciled in South Africa.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2018 were authorised for issue in accordance with 
a resolution of the Board on 23 July 2018.

1. Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set 
out below.

1.1. Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board the Johannesburg 
Stock Exchange (JSE) Listings Requirements, the requirements of the Companies Act, the SAICA Financial 
Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Pronouncements as 
issued by Financial Reporting Standards Council. The consolidated annual financial statements have been 
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the measurement of certain financial instruments at fair 
value, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below.

They are presented in South African Rand which is also the functional currency. These accounting policies 
are consistent with the previous period.

1.2. Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts represented in the consolidated financial statements and related 
disclosures. Use of available information and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation 
of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the 
consolidated financial statements. Significant judgements include:

Trade receivables and loans and receivables

The Group assesses its trade receivables and loans and receivables for impairment at each reporting 
date. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recognised in profit or loss, the Group makes 
judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows from a financial asset.

Taxation

Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of the 
legislation. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is 
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax 
audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of 
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the 
income tax and deferred tax recognised in the period in which such determination is made.

The Group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred tax assets to the extent that it is 
probable that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing 
the recoverability of deferred tax assets requires the Group to make significant estimates related to 
expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash 
flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that 
future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the Group to realise 
the net deferred tax assets recognised at the reporting date could be impacted.

Going concern

The Group’s management has made an assessment of its ability to continue as a going concern and 
is satisfied that it has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, 
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the 
going concern basis.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

1.3. Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities, including unincorporated entities, controlled by the Group. The Group controls 
an entity when it has power over and is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group acquires control up to the 
date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group 
companies are eliminated on consolidation.

1.4. Equity accounted investees

Equity accounted investees include investments in joint ventures. A joint venture is an arrangement in 
which the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, 
rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Equity accounting involves 
recognising the investment initially at cost, including goodwill, and subsequently adjusting the carrying 
value for the Group’s share of equity accounted investees profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its 
interest in an associate/joint venture, the carrying amount of the associate/joint venture, including any 
long-term investments, is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the 
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of an 
associate/joint venture.

Unrealised gains and losses arising from intercompany transactions are eliminated in determining the 
Group’s share of equity accounted profits. Unrealised losses are eliminated to the extent that there is no 
evidence of impairment.

Refer to note 33.7. for further detail regarding the joint venture, A-Trade (Pty) Limited. No IFRS 12 note 
disclosure was provided given the joint venture was not considered material to the Group.

1.5. Revenue

Commission revenue, in the capacity as an agent, relating to stock broking activities is recognised when 
all the following conditions are satisfied:

• The service rendered has been completed relating to a specific transaction.

• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

• It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group.

• The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Revenue relating to research, corporate broking and other advisory fees is recognised when all the 
following conditions have been satisfied:

• The service rendered has been completed.

• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

• It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and 
the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the 
amounts receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of trade 
discounts and volume rebates, and value added tax.

Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

Dividends are recognised, in profit or loss, when the Group’s right to receive payment has been established.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

1.6. Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is rendered.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render 
services that increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence 
occurs.

Post-retirement benefits

The Group contributes to a defined contribution plan based on a percentage of pensionable earnings 
funded by employees. The plan is held in separate trustee administered funds. Contributions to the plan 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become payable.

The contributions are expensed as the related services are provided. The Group does not operate a 
defined benefit plan.

1.7. Tax

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the 
period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:

• A transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive 
income.

• A business combination.

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount 
already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess 
is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to 
be paid to (recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax is recognised for all temporary differences between the carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes, except to the extent that deferred 
tax arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if the entity has a legally enforceable right to 
offset current tax liabilities and assets, and the deferred tax liabilities and assets relate to income tax 
levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. The most significant management assumption is the 
profitability forecasts that are used to support the probability assessment that sufficient taxable profits 
will be generated by the entities in the Group in order to utilise the deferred tax assets.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

1.8. Translation of foreign currencies 

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (functional currency). The financial 
statements are presented in South African Rand which is the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate ruling 
at the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation, at year-end exchange rates, of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities, measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value 
in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates at the dates the fair value was 
determined.

Foreign operations

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary 
economy) that have a functional currency different from the Group’s presentation currency are translated 
into the Group’s presentation currency as follows:

• Assets and liabilities are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the financial year-end date.

• Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the year, to the extent that such 
average rates approximate rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.

Exchange differences arising on the translation are recognised directly in a separate component of other 
comprehensive income and presented in equity (foreign currency translation reserve). When a foreign 
operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.

1.9. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Property, plant and equipment is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the asset’s carrying amount over its estimated useful life to its 
estimated residual value, using a method that best reflects the pattern in which the asset’s economic 
benefits are consumed by the Group. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment were assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life
Computer equipment Straight line 3 - 7 years
Computer software Straight line 5 years (2017: 2 years)
Furniture and fixtures Straight line 7 years (2017: 6 years)
Leasehold improvements Straight line Remainder of lease term
Motor vehicles Straight line 3 years
Office equipment Straight line 7 years (2017: 6 years)

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at each reporting date. 
If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change 
in accounting estimate.

Any gain or loss on derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

1.10. Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the entity, which have finite useful lives, are recognised initially at 
cost and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits of the 
asset to which it relates.

The useful lives, amortisation method and residual lives for intangible assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date.

Amortisation is calculated to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis over their estimated 
useful lives as follows:
Item Useful life
Avior research and customer platform 5 years

1.11. Impairment of assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the 
individual asset. If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss and is 
recognised in profit or loss.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss 
recognised in prior periods for assets may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated. The increased carrying amount of an asset 
attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

1.12. Financial instruments 

Classification
The Group classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: loans and receivables, financial 
liabilities at amortised cost, financial liabilities and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  
The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition and re-evaluates such 
designations when circumstances indicate that reclassification is permitted.

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments.

The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial 
asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement.

Financial instruments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at 
fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial 
instruments.

Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are expensed immediately.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

1.12. Financial instruments (continued) 

Subsequent measurement
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value, with 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, 
less accumulated impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method.

Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amounts presented in the statement of financial 
position when and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to 
settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets 
expire or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished, i.e. when the contractual obligation is 
discharged, cancelled, expires or when a substantial modification of the terms occur.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be 
impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred 
since the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the Group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors 
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, 
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable data 
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in 
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. Receivables together with the associated allowance are written off when there 
is no realistic prospect of future recovery.

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because 
of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 
increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account.

Financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss include items that are either classified as held for 
trading or that meet certain conditions and are designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition and comprise of:

• Stock accounts (typically relates to proprietary traded equity instruments).
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

1.12. Financial instruments (continued) 

Loans and receivables

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit and loss, are classified in this category.  
The following are included in this category:

• Amounts receivable in respect of stock broking activities

• Trade and other receivables

• Loans receivable

• Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities, other than those at fair value through profit and loss, are classified in this category. 
The following are included in this category:

• Trade and other payables

• Bank overdraft and borrowings

• Amounts payable in respect of stock broking activities

• Loans payable

Fair value

In accordance with IFRS, the Group is either required to or elects to measure a number of its financial 
assets and financial liabilities at fair value, being the price that would, respectively, be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market 
between market participants at the measurement date.

Fair value is a market-based measurement and uses the assumptions that market participants would use 
when pricing an asset or liability under current market conditions.

When determining fair value it is presumed that the entity is a going concern and is not an amount that 
represents a forced transaction, involuntary liquidation or a distressed sale. Information obtained from 
the valuation of financial instruments is used to assess the performance of the Group and, in particular, 
provides assurance that the risk and return measures that the Group has taken are accurate and complete.

The fair value of financial instruments held by the Group represents prices quoted in an active market: 
The existence of quoted prices in an active market represents the best evidence of fair value. Where such 
prices exist, they are used in determining the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash balances and call deposits with maturities of three months or 
less from the acquisition date. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in fair 
value. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost which approximates fair value.

Interest income from funds invested in loans and receivables is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss 
using the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprises interest expense on borrowings and are recognised in profit or loss using the 
effective interest method.

Collateral

Generally, no collateral is held in respect of recognised financial assets.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

1.13. Share capital and reserves Share capital

Shares issued by the Group are recognised at the value of the proceeds received less external costs 
directly attributable to the issue of shares. All transactions relating to the acquisition and sale or issue of 
shares in the Group, together with their associated costs, are accounted for in equity.

Share repurchases

Own equity instruments of the Group which are acquired by it or by any of its subsidiaries are deducted 
from equity. Consideration paid or received on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s 
own equity instruments is recognised directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on 
the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of own equity instruments.

1.14. Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. All other leases are classified as operating leases. The Group has not entered into any finance 
leases.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  
The difference between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are 
recognised as an operating lease asset or liability.

1.15. Earnings per share

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares 
into ordinary shares.

1.16. Segment reporting

Operating segments were identified using the management approach as required by IFRS 8, in terms of 
which segment classification is determined according to the basis on which management and the Board 
review the operating results.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Change in accounting estimate

A change in the measurement basis applied is a change in an accounting policy, and is not a change in an 
accounting estimate. The effect of a change in an accounting estimate shall be recognised prospectively by 
including it in profit or loss in:

• The period of the change, if the change affects that period only.

• The period of the change and future periods, if the change affects both.

To the extent that a change in an accounting estimate gives rise to changes in assets and liabilities, or relates to 
an item of equity, it shall be recognised by adjusting the carrying amount of the related asset, liability or equity 
item in the period of the change.

3. New Standards and Interpretations

3.1. Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective 
for the current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

Standard/ Interpretation: Effective date:
Years beginning on or after Expected impact:

Amendments to IAS 7: Disclosure initiative 01 January 2017

No material disclosure 
impact to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12: Recognition of 
Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 01 January 2017

No material disclosure 
impact to the consolidated 
financial statements.

3.2. Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which are mandatory 
for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 May 2018 or later periods:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

A final version of IFRS 9 was issued which replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. The completed standard comprises guidance on Classification and Measurement, 
Impairment Hedge Accounting and Derecognition:

• IFRS 9 introduces a new approach to the classification of financial assets, which is driven by the 
business model in which the asset is held and its cash flow characteristics. A new business model 
was introduced which allows certain financial assets to be categorised as “fair value through other 
comprehensive income” in certain circumstances.

• The requirements for financial liabilities are mostly carried forward unchanged from IAS 39. However, 
some changes were made to the fair value option for financial liabilities to address the issue of own 
credit risk.

• The new standard introduces a single “Expected Credit Loss” impairment model for the measurement 
of financial assets.

• IFRS 9 contains a new model for hedge accounting that aligns the accounting treatment with the risk 
management activities of an entity, in addition enhanced disclosures will provide better information 
about risk management and the effect of hedge accounting on the financial statements.

• IFRS 9 carries forward the derecognition requirements of financial assets and liabilities from IAS 39.

Measurement

Given the instruments employed by the Group, the Directors have assessed the impact and  
do not anticipate a material impact.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3.2. Standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impairment

In general, the introduction of the expected credit loss impairment model is not anticipated to have a 
material impact on the financial statements given:

• Trading operations typically operate on a cash basis (e.g. T+3 settlement model).

• Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited has a very low history of bad debts.

• Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited’s client base are typically institutional investors or listed 
corporates, with strong credit ratings.

Hedge accounting

Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited does not undertake any proprietary hedge accounting activities.

From time-to-time Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited does engage in proprietary pairs trading.  
These are however not designated as hedges and no pairs positon were taken at the reporting date  
(i.e. 30 April 2018).

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2018. The expected 
implementation date of the standard is the 2019 financial year.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The new standard requires entities to recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or 
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This core principle is achieved through a five step 
methodology (detailed below) that is required to be applied to all contracts with customers.

The new standard also results in enhanced disclosures about revenue, provides guidance for transactions 
that were not previously addressed comprehensively and improves guidance for multiple-element 
arrangements.

The Standard proposes a new five step model for the evaluation of revenue recognition:

• Identify contract with customer

• Identify performance obligations

• Determine the transaction price

• Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations

• Recognise revenue when performance obligations are satisfied

The Group evaluated the following revenue contract types against the five step model:

• General brokerage commissions

• Soft brokerage agreements

• Commission sharing agreements

• Advisory service fees

• Non-brokerage related fees

The Directors have assessed the impact and do not anticipate a material impact.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2018. The expected 
implementation date of the standard is the 2019 financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3.2. Standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and 
liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. 
A lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased 
asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.

A lessee measures right-of-use assets similarly to other non-financial assets (such as property, plant 
and equipment) and lease liabilities similarly to other financial liabilities. As a consequence, a lessee 
recognises depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease liability, and also classifies cash 
repayments of the lease liability into a principal portion and an interest portion and presents them in the 
statement of cash flows.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2019. The expected 
implementation date of the standard is the 2020 financial year.

The Directors have assessed the impact of the implementation of IFRS 16 and have determined that it 
would have the following material impact as at 30 April 2020 (i.e. initial application of the standard) on the 
financial statements:

Statement of Financial Position R

Assets
Right of use of asset 23 030 091
Accumulated depreciation (7 950 865)

 15 079 226

Liabilities
Lease liability
Opening balance 21 092 352
Lease payments (4 414 485)
Finance costs  2 462 816

Closing balance 19 140 683

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Operating expenses
Depreciation - right of use of asset 3 290 013
Financing cost
Lease liability - finance costs 2 462 816

5 752 829

For comparison purposes, using the current accounting standard IAS 17, Leases, the statement of 
comprehensive income impact on the implementation date would be R5 042 189.

Statement of Cash Flows
Cash payments for the lease liability 1 951 670
Cash payments for the interest portion 2 462 816

4 414 486
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2018 2017

4. Operating revenue
Brokerage and trading income (Refer to 4.1 below) 159 262 353 148 782 837
Corporate broking 3 413 514 2 482 785
Private wealth 1 326 815 917 371
Research services 12 989 460 16 346 875

176 992 142 168 529 868

4.1. Brokerage and trading income:
Basic brokerage 116 274 488 128 747 835
Derivatives income 37 256 894 16 960 314
Bonds income 5 730 971 3 074 688

159 262 353 148 782 837

5. Other income
Bad debts recovered 240 000 4 700
JSE Trustee fee 430 638 101 258
Management fees 483 587 19 266
Rental income 471 468 464 244
Insurance refund 18 011 -
Dividends received 49 34 149
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment - 182 936
Sundry income 446 849 668 635
Realised gain:
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 2 069 292 245 434
Fair value adjustments
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (4 147) 11 031

4 155 747 1 731 653

6. Operating expenses
Employee benefits (Refer to 6.1 below) 106 775 691 92 314 004
Membership fees and software licenses 20 630 560 22 582 114
Impairment of trade receivables 1 351 142 -
Professional services (Refer to 6.2 below) 9 092 979 6 383 743
Operating lease expense 6 710 228 6 099 703
Depreciation and amortisation 1 733 574 1 957 288
Admin expenses 22 372 959 20 939 684

168 667 133 150 276 536

6.1. Employee benefits
Salaries and contributions 77 058 912 67 250 889
Directors emoluments (Refer to 6.1.1 below) 19 523 167 20 688 376
Other staff costs 193 407 -
Bonus accrual 3 443 102 -
Defined contribution plan 6 109 357 4 374 739
Non-Executive Directors fees (Refer to 6.1.2 below) 447 746 -

106 775 691 92 314 004
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

6. Operating expenses (continued)

Key management remuneration
Executive

6.1.1. Directors emoluments and prescribed officers

2018 Emoluments
Pension

fund
Performance

bonus
Travel

allowance Total

Koutromanos P 6 059 449 651 530 - - 6 710 979
Mattison KS 4 167 911 450 016 - 24 000 4 641 927
Tilly N 1 883 098 201 906 500 000 - 2 585 004
Larsen J 769 220 15 211 - - 784 431
Becker D 2 063 533 77 363 883 957 - 3 024 854
Haveron D 1 518 130 67 278 190 564 - 1 775 972

16 461 341 1 463 304 1 574 521 24 000 19 523 167

2017 Emoluments
Pension

fund
Performance

bonus
Travel

allowance Total

Koutromanos P 5 518 073 329 156 1 470 000 - 7 317 229
Mattison KS 3 700 312 222 854 1 447 000 24 000 5 394 166
Tilly N 2 501 957 175 187 1 352 000 - 4 029 144
Becker D 2 001 826 33 188 271 536 - 2 306 550
Haveron D 1 504 408 26 454 110 425 - 1 641 287

15 226 576 786 839 4 650 961 24 000 20 688 376

N Tilly resigned with effect from 29 December 2017.
J Larsen was appointed as acting Finance Director with effect from 30 December 2017 and was 
permanently appointed on 11 June 2018.

6.1.2. Non-executive

2018 Fees Travel fees Total

Collier MD 37 500 711 38 211
Ramplin M 150 000 - 150 000
Matloa OM 103 750 4 312 108 062
Masilela E 150 000 1 473 151 473

441 250 6 496 447 746

MD Collier resigned with effect from 21 July 2017.
OM Matloa resigned with effect from 18 May 2018.
E Masilela resigned with effect from 18 May 2018.

6.2. Professional services
Software development costs 1 339 216 -
External audit fees 1 206 679 775 654
Consulting and managed services 4 475 202 2 423 775
Legal fees 2 071 882 3 184 314

9 092 979 6 383 743
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2018 2017

7. Investment income
Bank and other interest 1 177 102 2 134 033
Scrip collateral interest 901 826 789 336
Margin interest 160 109 34 488
Interest on loans to related parties 151 098 251 169

2 390 135 3 209 026

8. Finance cost
Bank overdraft and other payables 359 761 780 577
Interest on loans from related parties 1 615 237 97 235

1 974 998 877 812

9. Investment in equity accounted investee
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition losses in the equity-accounted 
investee for the reporting period was R50 000 comprising of:
Share of loss for the year limited to investment amounts 500 000 -
Elimination of intercompany revenue (450 000) -

50 000 -

Refer to note 38 on events after the reporting period for details on the 
disposal of the investment.

10. Income tax expense
South African normal taxation
Current period 512 191 1 672 748
Prior year correction 14 915 -
Foreign taxation
Current period 15 197 -
Deferred taxation
Current period 2 576 601 (7 973 078)

3 118 904 (6 300 330)

Reconciliation of the tax expense
Profit before taxation 7 487 124 20 493 617
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2017: 28%) 2 096 395 5 738 213
Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income
Non-deductible expenses 415 724 102 240
Deferred tax asset not recognised 1 253 636 -
Effect of difference in tax rate (661 766) -
Non-taxable income - (60 784)
Prior year deferred tax asset recognised - (12 079 999)
Prior year under provision of tax 14 915 -

3 118 904 (6 300 330)

Effective tax rate 41.66% 30.74%
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11. Earnings per Share  
Basic and diluted earnings per share  

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share at 30 April 2018 was based on the earnings attributable 
to ordinary shareholders of R4 368 220 (2017: R26 793 947), and a weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding of 146 039 842 (2017: 169 838 094) calculated as follows:

2018 2017

Profit attributable to ordinary  
shareholders (basic and diluted) Gross Net Gross Net

Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders - 4 368 220 - 26 793 947
Adjustments to earnings
Profit or loss on disposal of property,  
plant and equipment 537 530 387 021 (182 936) (131 714)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 447 113 447 113 - -
Insurance refunds (18 011) (12 968) - -

Headline earnings attributable to  
ordinary shareholders 5 189 387 26 662 233

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 2.99 15.78
Headline and diluted headline earnings per 
share (cents) 3.55 15.70
Weighted average number of ordinary 
shares (basic and diluted)
Issued ordinary shares at 01 May 141 457 900 173 532 000
Effect of shares issued/(repurchased) 4 581 941 (3 693 906)

Weighted average number of  
ordinary shares at 30 April 146 039 841 169 838 094

Number of shares in issue 146 285 100 141 457 900
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

12. Categories of financial instruments

Notes

Financial assets at
fair value through

profit (loss)
Loans and 

receivables

Financial liabilities 
at fair value 

through profit (loss)
Financial liabilities 

at amortised cost

Equity and 
non-financial 

assets and liabilities Total

Categories of financial instruments - 2018
Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 - - - - 9 366 046 9 366 046
Intangible assets 14 - - - - 667 945 667 945
Loans to directors, managers and employees 17 - 1 508 364 - - - 1 508 364
Deferred tax 15 - - - - 14 371 676 14 371 676
Loan receivable 16 - 579 138 - - - 579 138

- 2 087 502 - - 24 405 667 26 493 169

Current Assets
Loans to directors, managers and employees 17 - 797 516 - - - 797 516
Margin and collateral accounts 18 - 11 027 981 - - - 11 027 981
Trade and other receivables 19 - 4 888 364 - - 4 056 674 8 945 038
Financial assets held for trading 20 47 946 - - - - 47 946
Current tax receivable - - - - 2 641 773 2 641 773
Amounts receivable in respect of stock broking activities 21 - 373 499 993 - - - 373 499 993
Cash and cash equivalents 22 - 71 710 133 - - - 71 710 133

47 946 461 923 987 - - 6 698 447 468 670 380

Total Assets 47 946 464 011 489 - - 31 104 114 495 163 549

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Share capital 23 - - - - 8 647 754 8 647 754
Reserves 23 - - - - (6 237 638) (6 237 638)
Retained income 23 - - - - 83 103 262 83 103 262

- - - - 85 513 378 85 513 378

Total Equity - - - - 85 513 378 85 513 378

Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Loans from related parties 25 - - - 13 000 251 - 13 000 251

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 28 - - - 16 730 671 3 769 818 20 500 489
Financial liabilities held for trading 27 - - 555 191 - - 555 191
Operating lease liability - - - - 452 732 452 732
Loans from related parties 25 - - - 128 222 - 128 222
Current tax payable - - - - 268 327 268 327
Amounts payable in respect of stock broking activities 26 - - - 374 744 959 - 374 744 959

- - 555 191 391 603 852 4 490 877 396 649 920

Total Liabilities - - 555 191 404 604 103 4 490 877 409 650 171

Total Equity and Liabilities - - 555 191 404 604 103 90 004 255 495 163 549
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

12. Categories of financial instruments

Notes

Financial assets at
fair value through

profit (loss)
Loans and 

receivables

Financial liabilities 
at fair value 

through profit (loss)
Financial liabilities 

at amortised cost

Equity and 
non-financial 

assets and liabilities Total

Categories of financial instruments - 2018
Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 - - - - 9 366 046 9 366 046
Intangible assets 14 - - - - 667 945 667 945
Loans to directors, managers and employees 17 - 1 508 364 - - - 1 508 364
Deferred tax 15 - - - - 14 371 676 14 371 676
Loan receivable 16 - 579 138 - - - 579 138

- 2 087 502 - - 24 405 667 26 493 169

Current Assets
Loans to directors, managers and employees 17 - 797 516 - - - 797 516
Margin and collateral accounts 18 - 11 027 981 - - - 11 027 981
Trade and other receivables 19 - 4 888 364 - - 4 056 674 8 945 038
Financial assets held for trading 20 47 946 - - - - 47 946
Current tax receivable - - - - 2 641 773 2 641 773
Amounts receivable in respect of stock broking activities 21 - 373 499 993 - - - 373 499 993
Cash and cash equivalents 22 - 71 710 133 - - - 71 710 133

47 946 461 923 987 - - 6 698 447 468 670 380

Total Assets 47 946 464 011 489 - - 31 104 114 495 163 549

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Share capital 23 - - - - 8 647 754 8 647 754
Reserves 23 - - - - (6 237 638) (6 237 638)
Retained income 23 - - - - 83 103 262 83 103 262

- - - - 85 513 378 85 513 378

Total Equity - - - - 85 513 378 85 513 378

Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Loans from related parties 25 - - - 13 000 251 - 13 000 251

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 28 - - - 16 730 671 3 769 818 20 500 489
Financial liabilities held for trading 27 - - 555 191 - - 555 191
Operating lease liability - - - - 452 732 452 732
Loans from related parties 25 - - - 128 222 - 128 222
Current tax payable - - - - 268 327 268 327
Amounts payable in respect of stock broking activities 26 - - - 374 744 959 - 374 744 959

- - 555 191 391 603 852 4 490 877 396 649 920

Total Liabilities - - 555 191 404 604 103 4 490 877 409 650 171

Total Equity and Liabilities - - 555 191 404 604 103 90 004 255 495 163 549
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

12. Categories of financial instruments (continued)

Notes

Financial assets at
fair value through

profit (loss)
Loans and 

receivables

Financial liabilities 
at fair value 

through profit (loss)
Financial liabilities 

at amortised cost

Equity and 
non-financial 

assets and liabilities Total

Categories of financial instruments - 2017
Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 - - - - 3 614 651 3 614 651
Intangible assets 14 - - - - 419 454 419 454
Deferred tax 15 - - - - 16 874 345 16 874 345
Loan receivable 16 - 750 000 - - - 750 000

- 750 000 - - 20 908 450 21 658 450

Current Assets
Loans to directors, managers and employees 17 - 2 946 505 - - - 2 946 505
Margin and collateral accounts 18 - 8 574 583 - - - 8 574 583
Trade and other receivables 19 - 3 788 007 - - 1 731 440 5 519 447
Financial assets held for trading 20 3 064 864 - - - - 3 064 864
Current tax receivable - - - - 1 102 971 1 102 971
Amounts receivable in respect of stock broking activities 21 - 46 973 900 - - - 46 973 900
Cash and cash equivalents 22 - 63 435 808 - - - 63 435 808

3 064 864 125 718 803 - - 2 834 411 131 618 078

Total Assets 3 064 864 126 468 803 - - 23 742 861 153 276 528

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Share capital 23 - - - - 14 146 14 146
Reserves 23 - - - - (5 561 126) (5 561 126)
Retained income 23 - - - - 79 617 120 79 617 120

- - - - 74 070 140 74 070 140

Total Equity - - - - 74 070 140 74 070 140

Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Loans from related parties 25 - - - 13 000 251 - 13 000 251

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 28 - - - 10 836 089 10 632 789 21 468 878
Financial liabilities held for trading 27 - - 2 668 353 - - 2 668 353
Operating lease liability - - - - 377 374 377 374
Loans from related parties 25 - - - 97 235 - 97 235
Current tax payable - - - - 4 299 4 299
Amounts payable in respect of stock broking activities 26 - - - 41 589 998 - 41 589 998

- - 2 668 353 52 523 322 11 014 462 66 206 137

Total Liabilities - - 2 668 353 65 523 573 11 014 462 79 206 388

Total Equity and Liabilities - - 2 668 353 65 523 573 85 084 602 153 276 528

Financial assets pledged as collateral for liabilities and contingent liabilities

Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited’s pledges financial assets in the form of cash and listed equities as collateral 
for scrip lending liabilities that forms part of their stockbroking activities. Collateral is pledged in terms of 
Global Master Securities Lending Agreements (GMSLA) for scrip lending liabilities. The terms contained 
in GMSLA agreements are universal in nature and requires collateral to be pledged at the same time that 
securities are borrowed and also allows for the substitution of collateral. The GMSLA specifically states that 
in the event of a default, as defined in the GMSLA, set off may be applied by the non-defaulting counterparty.  
At 30 April 2018 Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited pledged a total of R6 128 950.

Avior Capital Markets Holdings  •  Integrated Annual Report 2018

68



12. Categories of financial instruments (continued)

Notes

Financial assets at
fair value through

profit (loss)
Loans and 

receivables

Financial liabilities 
at fair value 

through profit (loss)
Financial liabilities 

at amortised cost

Equity and 
non-financial 

assets and liabilities Total

Categories of financial instruments - 2017
Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 - - - - 3 614 651 3 614 651
Intangible assets 14 - - - - 419 454 419 454
Deferred tax 15 - - - - 16 874 345 16 874 345
Loan receivable 16 - 750 000 - - - 750 000

- 750 000 - - 20 908 450 21 658 450

Current Assets
Loans to directors, managers and employees 17 - 2 946 505 - - - 2 946 505
Margin and collateral accounts 18 - 8 574 583 - - - 8 574 583
Trade and other receivables 19 - 3 788 007 - - 1 731 440 5 519 447
Financial assets held for trading 20 3 064 864 - - - - 3 064 864
Current tax receivable - - - - 1 102 971 1 102 971
Amounts receivable in respect of stock broking activities 21 - 46 973 900 - - - 46 973 900
Cash and cash equivalents 22 - 63 435 808 - - - 63 435 808

3 064 864 125 718 803 - - 2 834 411 131 618 078

Total Assets 3 064 864 126 468 803 - - 23 742 861 153 276 528

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Share capital 23 - - - - 14 146 14 146
Reserves 23 - - - - (5 561 126) (5 561 126)
Retained income 23 - - - - 79 617 120 79 617 120

- - - - 74 070 140 74 070 140

Total Equity - - - - 74 070 140 74 070 140

Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Loans from related parties 25 - - - 13 000 251 - 13 000 251

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 28 - - - 10 836 089 10 632 789 21 468 878
Financial liabilities held for trading 27 - - 2 668 353 - - 2 668 353
Operating lease liability - - - - 377 374 377 374
Loans from related parties 25 - - - 97 235 - 97 235
Current tax payable - - - - 4 299 4 299
Amounts payable in respect of stock broking activities 26 - - - 41 589 998 - 41 589 998

- - 2 668 353 52 523 322 11 014 462 66 206 137

Total Liabilities - - 2 668 353 65 523 573 11 014 462 79 206 388

Total Equity and Liabilities - - 2 668 353 65 523 573 85 084 602 153 276 528

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(2017: R6 922 408) all of which are cash and cash equivalents.

Fair value evaluation of the carrying amounts

Fair value information has not been provided for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value 
as the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Amounts receivable/payable in respect of stock broking activities are short term in nature, and typically are subject 
to a T+3 settlement cycle, and hence their fair value approximates their carrying amount.

Refer to note 34 for further information regarding the risks associated with the categories.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

13. Property, plant and equipment

2018 2017

Cost
Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value

Computer 
equipment 4 228 978 (2 578 564) 1 650 414 3 437 685 (2 275 302) 1 162 383
Computer software 619 001 (583 943) 35 058 578 721 (578 721) -
Furniture and 
fixtures 2 280 250 (374 931) 1 905 319 1 144 457 (553 713) 590 744
Leasehold 
improvements 3 999 750 (325 623) 3 674 127 1 308 628 (833 050) 475 578
Motor vehicles 760 800 (222 283) 538 517 760 800 (137 117) 623 683
Office equipment 1 854 138 (291 527) 1 562 611 1 288 205 (525 942) 762 263

Total 13 742 917 (4 376 871) 9 366 046 8 518 496 (4 903 845) 3 614 651

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2018

Opening
balance Additions Disposals

Foreign
 exchange

movements Depreciation
Impairment

 loss Total

Computer 
equipment 1 162 383 797 490 - (2 131) (307 328) - 1 650 414
Computer 
software - 40 280 - - (5 222) - 35 058
Furniture and 
fixtures 590 744 1 730 081 - - (208 556) (206 950) 1 905 319
Leasehold 
improvements 475 578 3 790 054 (161 327) - (341 790) (88 388) 3 674 127
Motor vehicles 623 683 - - - (85 166) - 538 517
Office 
equipment 762 263 1 571 194 (447 178) - (171 893) (151 775) 1 562 611

3 614 651 7 929 099 (608 505) (2 131) (1 119 955) (447 113) 9 366 046

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2017

Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation Total

Computer equipment 1 019 525 867 073 (3 751) - (720 464) 1 162 383
Computer software 424 691 402 055 - (524 317) (302 429) -
Furniture and fixtures 540 097 220 954 - - (170 307) 590 744
Leasehold improvements 460 320 265 417 - - (250 159) 475 578
Motor vehicles 237 041 760 800 (143 314) - (230 844) 623 683
Office equipment 827 594 112 852 - - (178 183) 762 263

3 509 268 2 629 151 (147 065) (524 317) (1 852 386) 3 614 651

Property, plant and equipment encumbered as security

No items of property, plant and equipment were encumbered as security for borrowings.

Change in the property, plant and equipment useful life estimate

During the year the Group revised the useful lives of its property, plant and equipment classes to better align 
with their historical usage profiles. The Group also revised the residual value of its motor vehicles based on 
historical usage data. The revised depreciation figures reflect the estimated changes as at the start of the 
current financial year.

Refer to accounting policy note 1.9. for further detail regarding the Group’s property, plant and equipment 
policy.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

13. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The comparative evaluation of the impact to the financial statements is:

Revised 
depreciation

New 
useful 

lives

Previous 
useful 

lives

New 
residual 
value (%)

Previous 
residual 
value (%)

Depreciation 
would have 

been

Computer 
equipment 213 096 7 3 - - 497 225
Computer software 5 222 5 3 - - 8 704
Furniture and 
fixtures 208 556 7 6 - - 486 631
Office equipment 178 702 7 6 - - 416 972
Motor vehicles 85 166 3 3 54 - 249 473

690 742 54 - 1 659 005

IAS 36 - Impairment loss
During 2018, due to a move from one office premise to another, the Group assessed the recoverable amount 
of certain property, plant and equipment items to be lower than their carrying amounts. The Group therefore 
impaired the respective properly, plant and equipment items. The carrying amount of R447 113 was written 
down to nil as there was no further use for the assets. The impairment loss was included in operating expenses.

14. Intangible assets

2018 2017

Cost
Accumulated 
amortisation

 Carrying 
value Cost

Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying 
value

Avior research and 
customer platform 939 314 (271 369) 667 945 524 317 (104 863) 419 454

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2018

Opening 
balance Additions Amortisation Total

Avior research and customer platform 419 454 414 997 (166 506) 667 945

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2017

Opening 
balance Transfer Amortisation Total

Avior research and customer platform - 524 317 (104 863) 419 454

Pledged as security

No items of intangible assets were pledged as security.

Contractual commitments

At reporting date there were no contractual commitments for the acquisition of any intangible assets.
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2018 2017

15. Deferred tax
Deferred tax asset
Accruals 1 875 848 1 007 064
Property, plant and equipment (44 945) 22 180
Straight lining of leases 126 765 105 665
Income received in advance - 27 132
Prepaid expenses (975 561) (441 419)
Intangible assets (56 409) -
Fair value adjustments 1 161 (3 089)
Unrealised profits on foreign exchange 803 767 869 563

Deferred tax balance from temporary differences  
other than unused tax losses 1 730 626 1 587 096
Tax losses available for set off against future taxable income 12 641 050 15 287 249

14 371 676 16 874 345

Total deferred tax asset 14 371 676 16 874 345

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset
At beginning of year 16 874 345 11 069 818
Tax loss available for set off against future taxable income (2 646 199) 4 453 682
Accruals 868 783 (32 255)
Property, plant and equipment (67 125) 32 825
Income received in advance (27 131) 27 132
Prepaid expenses (534 142) (287 660)
Fair value adjustments 4 250 (3 089)
Straight lining of leases 21 100 159 707
Unrealised profits on foreign exchange (65 796) 1 454 185
Intangible assets (56 409) -

14 371 676 16 874 345

The tax losses available for set off against future taxable income is due to historic pre-acquisition accumulated 
tax losses relating to Avior Capital Markets International Limited, which was acquired in January 2015. 
Management has assessed the suitability of recognising the deferred tax asset in the current financial year 
based on historic profitability over the past three years and future profit forecasts. Based on the outcome of 
this analysis management believes it is appropriate to fully recognise the deferred tax asset.

16. Loan receivable
Opening balance 750 000 750 000
Prior period effective interest discounting (218 681) -
Effective interest 47 819 -

579 138 750 000

The ASISA Enterprise Development Fund was founded by the Association of Savings and Investment South 
Africa (ASISA) for the purpose of assisting with the development of operational and financial capacity of 
BBBEE enterprises and suppliers. The loan is unsecured and interest free. The loan is repayable in seven years 
after the initial loan was granted on 30 April 2014. The balance was assessed by management to determine 
whether there is any indication of circumstances that would prevent them from repaying the loan. No history 
of default or indication of impairment existed at the reporting date.
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2018 2017

17. Loans to directors, managers and employees
Opening balance 2 946 505 3 546 059
Advances 845 915 521 738
Interest income 151 098 348 403
Repayments - cash (967 508) -
Repayments - repurchase of shares (670 130) (1 469 695)

2 305 880 2 946 505

Non-current assets 1 508 364 -
Current assets 797 516 2 946 505

2 305 880 2 946 505

Refer to related parties note 33 for further details regarding the loans.

18. Margin and collateral accounts
Gilt margin 758 539 59 923
Margin call 3 250 437 69 550
CFD margin 890 054 1 322 608
Collateral 6 128 951 7 122 502

11 027 981 8 574 583

These amounts primarily represent cash amounts or equity instruments relating to stock broking activities 
transferred as collateral against open derivative contracts (i.e. CFDs), scrip lending liabilities or margin risk 
requirements as per the JSE’s settlement requirements. No set-off of receivables is permitted as the Group has 
no legal right to do so as the transactions are with different counterparties. The cash or equity instruments 
posted as collateral are typically returned to the Group upon fulfilment of obligations or completion of the 
underlying contracts. The current and prior year values all represent cash amounts at the respective period end.

19. Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables 6 109 369 3 371 215
Prepaid expense (Refer to 19.2 below) 4 055 233 1 731 440
Value Added Tax 1 441 -
Impairment of trade receivables (Refer to 19.1 below) (1 351 142) -
Other receivables 130 137 416 792

8 945 038 5 519 447

19.1. Reconciliation of impairment of trade receivables
Balance at the beginning of the year - -
Provision raised during the year (1 351 142) -

Balance at the end of the year (1 351 142) -

As at 30 April 2018, the Group identified an adverse change in the credit risk relating to a Zimbabwe 
based counterparty with a post 90 day balance of R1 351 142. This was primarily due to the ongoing 
foreign exchange liquidity challenges leading to uncertainty around the timing of foreign remittances. 
The Group therefore provided for an impairment of trade receivables relating to this amount. 
Discussions are ongoing on the repatriation of funds from the counterparty.

19.2. Prepaid expenses
Property, plant and equipment deposit 311 559 -
Rental 558 248 203 772
Software 1 838 415 1 372 726
Staff travel and other 175 441 -
Subscriptions 633 653 154 942
Summit and conferences 537 917 -

4 055 233 1 731 440
Prepaid expenses will be utilised within 12 months after the year end.
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2018 2017

20. Financial assets held for trading

Stock account - proprietary trading 47 946 3 064 864

21. Amounts receivable in respect of stock broking activities

Amounts owing by clients in respect of transactions 373 499 993 46 973 900

These amounts arise primarily from equities, derivatives and fixed income trading activities that the Group 
carries out on behalf of its clients, through its subsidiary Avior Capital markets (Pty) Limited. The accounts 
receivable from stockbroking activities represents amounts due from clients for the purchases of instruments 
and the accounts payable from stockbroking activities represents amounts due to clients for the sales of 
instruments.

No set-off of receivables and payables is permitted as the Group has no legal right to do so as the transactions 
are with different counterparties with differing settlement dates. The Group must ensure the settlement of 
all transactions executed by them on behalf of clients. The Settlement Authority (which is a separate entity 
established in terms of the JSE Rules and Directives) is responsible for the management of the settlement of 
these transactions and the management of the risks associated with such settlement.

In addition, the Group ensures that no purchase transaction takes place unless the controlled client has 
sufficient funds in their account, which are held at JSE Trustees (Pty) Limited, and on the sell side, that the 
client has sufficient equity securities in dematerialised form before a sale is executed.

22. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand 11 956 11 956
Bank balances 71 698 177 63 423 852

71 710 133 63 435 808

Cash and cash equivalents as referred to in the cash flow statement comprises cash on hand, short term 
deposits and amounts due from banks on demand or with an original maturity of three months or less.

Financial guarantee contracts

The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited has made available a bank guarantee facility of R5 000 000 to 
support Avior Capital Market (Pty) Limited’s capital adequacy requirements in terms of the JSE rules. Payment 
under the guarantee will only be made upon receipt by the bank of the JSE’s first written demand and will be 
paid into a trust account administered by the JSE. The guarantee is for the sole benefit of the JSE. This facility 
was not utilised during the current financial year under review. The guarantee is renewed on an annual basis 
and was renewed in May 2018.

23. Share capital

Authorised
Ordinary shares no par value 400 000 000 400 000 000
Movement in the number of shares issued:
At the beginning of the year 141 457 900 172 162 800
New shares issued 5 755 800 -
Share buy-back (928 600) (30 704 900)

146 285 100 141 457 900

Issued

Ordinary shares no par value 8 647 754 14 146

At the start of the financial year under review, Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited was the holding company 
of the Group.
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23. Share capital (continued)

To facilitate the listing of the Group on the JSE’s AltX a new holding company, Avior Capital Markets Holdings 
Limited was formed with the ownership of the Group’s subsidiaries transferred to this entity with the exception 
of Groombridge Nominees (Pty) Limited (SA).

To ensure that Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited had the minimum number of public shareholders upon 
listing, a private placement of shares in Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited was offered to selected investors 
prior to the Group listing. As a result, the Company issued 57 558 Class B ordinary shares at a price of R150 
on 18 May 2017.

Upon listing of the Group on the JSE’s AltX on 6 June 2017, a share exchange agreement came into effect, 
in terms of which each shareholder of Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited was granted 100 shares in Avior 
Capital Markets Holdings Limited for every share held. Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited became a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited.

927 500 shares were repurchased on 05 May 2017 at an average price of R0.96 per share during the current 
year in terms of this general authority. This event took place prior to Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited’s 
listing on the JSE’s AltX and the share exchange transaction on 06 June 2017.

The number of shares at 30 April 2017 is not the actual number of the shares in issue at the time. It has 
been adjusted in line with the increased number of shares (at a 100:1 ratio) as per the listing to provide a 
comparable number. The Class A and Class B ordinary share categories were also collapsed into a single 
ordinary share category upon listing. Consequently, the earnings per share and headline earning per share 
were updated accordingly for comparison purposes.

24. Legacy share scheme

Prior to the start of the current financial year staff members party to the legacy share scheme signed an 
addendum to the original agreement. This addendum gave effect that upon the listing of the Group all rights 
and vesting conditions were to be considered fulfilled, with the shares subsequently freely tradeable on the 
stock exchange. However, per the legacy agreement, shares are held as collateral against the staff loans 
which were originally provided to fund the acquisition of the shares. At the date of listing, 65 904 Class B 
ordinary shares were held by staff, excluding directors of the Group. Further, the scheme was considered to 
be concluded at the date of listing. Refer to note 23 on the general treatment of how shares were transferred 
between entities during the listing of the Group. The legacy share scheme was not accounted for under IFRS 
2 as it did not meet the initial recognition and measurement criteria.

2018 2017

25. Loans from related parties
Shareholder loans
Non-current liabilities
K. Mattison 4 500 251 4 500 251
Stately Horse Properties (Pty) Limited 8 500 000
Zazomia Trust - 8 500 000

13 000 251 13 000 251

Current liabilities
K. Mattison - accrued interest 44 386 33 659
Stately Horse Properties (Pty) Limited - accrued interest 83 836 -
Zazomia Trust - accrued interest - 63 576

128 222 97 235

On 4 April 2017 Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited entered into subordinated loan agreements with two of 
its shareholders being The Zazomia Trust and Kevin Mattison. The amounts loaned to Avior Capital Markets 
(Pty) Limited were R8 500 000 and R4 500 251 respectively. The terms of the loan are Prime + 2% with 
accrued interest settled on a monthly basis. Interest of R83 835 62 and R44 386 04 respectively, was due as at  
30 April 2018 and is included in the closing balance. The subordination remains in effect for a minimum of two 
years from the anniversary of the loan. The loans were made to improve Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited’s 
Capital Adequacy Requirements in terms of the JSE Rules. On 01 July 2017, the Zazomia Trust ceded the loan 
to its wholly owned subsidiary Stately Horse Properties (Pty) Limited.
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2018 2017

26. Amounts payable in respect of stock broking activities
Amounts owing to clients in respect of trade transactions 373 169 625 41 313 563
Gilt clearing house account 1 575 334 276 435

374 744 959 41 589 998

Refer to note 21 for further details regarding the payable accounts.
27. Financial liabilities held for trading

Stock account - proprietary positions 555 191 2 668 353

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading at fair value through profit or loss 555 191 2 668 353

28. Trade and other payables
Trade payables 9 191 763 6 974 886
Amounts received in advance - 370 500
Value Added Tax 1 533 527 551
Securities Transfer Tax and other taxes 3 768 285 9 734 738
Accrued expenses 742 439 538 142
Bonus accrual 3 443 102 -
Leave pay accrual 3 353 367 3 323 061

20 500 489 21 468 878

29. Cash generated from operations
Profit before taxation 7 487 124 20 493 619
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 1 286 461 1 957 288
Loss/(gain) on disposals of property, plant and equipment 537 530 (182 936)
Net foreign exchange translation 5 358 769 (5 539 541)
Income from equity-accounted investee 50 000 -
Investment income (2 390 135) -
Finance costs 1 974 998 (2 055 622)
Dividend income (49) -
Fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4 147 (11 031)
Non-cash movement in financial liabilities - (1 784 526)
Impairment and discounting of loans receivable 478 651 3 382 595
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 447 113 -
Increase in operating lease accrual 75 358 570 382
Loss on disposal of equity-accounted investee 500 000 -
Movement in loans to directors, managers and employees - 1 121 289
Exchange rate differences on translation of cash flow items - 249 833
Non-cash movements in cash flows from investing activities (Refer to note 31) - (172 268)
Non-cash movements in cash flows from financing activities (Refer to note 32) - (180 947)
Changes in working capital:
(Increase) in trade and other receivables (3 425 592) (2 716 341)
(Increase) in margin and collateral accounts (2 453 398) (1 208 368)
(Increase)/decrease in amounts receivable in respect of stock broking activities (326 526 093) 379 732 115
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (968 385) 2 747 425
Increase/(decrease) amounts payable in respect of stock broking activities 333 154 962 (375 397 957)

15 591 461 21 005 009
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2018 2017

30. Tax paid
Balance at the beginning of the year 1 098 672 136 355
Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss (527 388) (1 672 748)
Prior year under provision (14 915) -
Balance at the end of the year (2 373 446) (1 098 672)

(1 817 077) (2 635 065)

31. Other non-cash items from investing activities
Disposal of property, plant and equipment - 182 936
Trade in of property, plant and equipment - (169 662)
Movements in intangible assets - (185 542)

- (172 268)

32. Other non-cash items from financing activities
Share buyback - (177 877)
Movement in share capital - (3 070)

- (180 947)

33. Related parties
33.1. Directors and key management

Details of directors’ shareholding in the Group are disclosed in the directors’ report. Directors’ and 
key management’s remuneration are disclosed in note 6.1.

33.2. Loans to Directors, managers and employees
Loans to Directors, managers and employees comprise general staff loans, a UK Director loan and 
loans relating to a legacy share scheme.
Share scheme staff loans 1 508 364 2 424 767
General staff loans (SA) 284 233 337 469
General staff loans (UK) 52 596 112 388
UK Director loan 460 687 71 883

Loans to Directors, managers and employees 2 305 880 2 946 505

The legacy share scheme loans were granted between 2012 and 2014 to staff to purchase shares in 
the non-listed entity, now known as Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited. The loans bear interest at 9% 
per annum secured by ordinary shares in the Group. Upon the AltX listing of Avior Capital Markets 
Holdings Limited on 6 June 2017, the share holdings were exchanged for shares in the new holding 
company, Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited.

General staff loans (SA) are unsecured and do not exceed 2 years. The terms of the loan are Prime  
+ 2% per annum and are deducted from employees’ salaries on a monthly basis.

General staff loans (UK) are unsecured and do not exceed 1 year. The terms of the loan are 0% per 
annum and are deducted from employees’ salaries on a monthly basis.

The UK Director’s loan is unsecured. The terms of the loan are 3% per annum after three years from the 
loan commencement in April 2018. The loan is to be setoff prior to this date against any bonuses paid.

The share scheme staff loans did not meet the IFRS 2 share-based payment recognition and 
measurement criteria and were consequently accounted for in accordance with IAS 39.
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2018 2017

33. Related parties (continued)
33.3. Loans from related parties

Loan balances
K Mattison - shareholder’s loan 4 544 637 4 533 910
Stately Horse Properties (Pty) Limited - shareholder’s loan 8 583 836 -
Zazomia Trust - shareholder’s loan - 8 563 575

 13 128 473 13 097 485

Interest on loans paid to shareholders
K Mattison - shareholder’s loan 559 141 33 659
Stately Horse Properties (Pty) Limited - shareholder’s loan 866 418 -
Zazomia Trust - shareholder’s loan 189 678 63 575

 1 615 237 97 235

33.4. Purchases from (sales to) related parties
On 20 February 2017, Tauri Investment (Pty) Limited, a 50% owned entity of Zazomia Trust, was 
liquidated, ending the related party relationship between the Group and Cheetahfix, which was prior 
to the start of the current financial year.

Cheetahfix Limited (613 992)

33.5. Stately Horse Properties (Pty) Limited scrip lending transaction
On 8 September 2017 Stately Horse Properties (Pty) Limited, which owns 58.1% of outstanding shares 
in Avior Capital Markets Holdings, became a client of Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited. Consequently, 
Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited entered into a securities lending transaction with Stately Horse 
Properties (Pty) Limited. At 30 April 2018, the short position was valued at R42 780 491 and the equity 
collateral posted by Stately Horse Properties (Pty) Limited was valued at R61 360 065. Avior Capital 
Markets (Pty) Limited earned total fees of R84 148 relating to this transaction as at 30 April 2018.  
The terms of the agreement were at arms lengths and were aligned to the International Securities 
Lending Association standard terms.

33.6. Transfer of shareholding from Zazomia Trust to Stately Horse Properties (Pty) Limited
On 29 September 2017 Zazomia Trust transferred all of its shareholding in Avior Capital Markets 
Holdings Limited of 85 898 200 shares to Stately Horse Properties (Pty) Limited. Peter Koutromanos, 
Director, has a controlling interest in both entities. All costs associated with the transfer were borne by 
the Zazomia Trust.

33.7. Investment in A-Trade (Pty) Limited joint venture
On 1 June 2017, Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited and Pallidus Investments (Namibia) (Pty) 
Limited jointly invested in a newly incorporated entity being A-Trade (Pty) Limited. The respective 
parties subscribed to 50 000 Class A ordinary shares at R500 000 each representing a 50% shareholding 
in a joint venture arrangement and advanced a loan of R310 000. The entity was formed as a stock 
brokerage to service clients as a member of the 4AX exchange. The joint venture is equity-accounted 
per the Group’s accounting policies.

33.7.1. Monthly management fees charged to A-Trade (Pty) Limited by Avior Capital Markets 
(Pty) Limited
Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited charged A-Trade (Pty) Limited monthly management 
fees from 15 June 2017 to 30 April 2018 amounting to R900 000. The fees related to the use of 
Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited’s Group facilities and broker capabilities.

33.7.2. Disposal of A-Trade (Pty) Limited investment and associated asset impairment
With effect from 28 May 2018 Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited disposed of its shareholding 
in A-Trade (Pty) Limited for a consideration of R1 to Pallidus Investments (Namibia) (Pty) Limited. 
The terms of the agreement were such that the Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited disposed 
of all 50 000 class A ordinary shares comprising 50% of the share capital of A-Trade (Pty) Limited.  
The service level agreement between Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited and A-Trade (Pty) Limited 
for the management services was also terminated. The total loan at 30 April 2018 was R310 000 
and this was written off as it is not recoverable per the agreed exit terms. The total investment in 
A-Trade (Pty) Limited of R500 000 was impaired and written off to zero, while the share of loss on 
the investment was limited to R500 000 which was the investment value.
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34. Risk management  
Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value 
interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

The Group’s senior management oversees the management of these risks.

34.1. Market risk

Market risk is the risk that movements in market factors, such as foreign exchange rates, interest 
rates and equity prices, will reduce the Group’s income or the value of its portfolios.

Market risk management

The Group’s market risk management objective is to manage and control market risk exposures in 
order to optimise return on risk while ensuring solvency.

As with liquidity risk senior management is responsible for ensuring the effective management 
of market risk throughout the Group. The authority and responsibility in relation to market risk 
management have been assigned to appropriate individuals in the Group.

The core market risk management activities are:

• The identification of all key market risks and their drivers.

• The independent measurement and evaluation of key market risks and their drivers.

• Monitoring risks and reporting on them.

34.1.1. Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future 
cash flows or the fair values of financial instruments. Interest earned or paid by the Group is 
generated as part of the Group’s financing or investment decisions. The Group’s policy is to 
monitor positions on a daily basis to ensure the risk is managed.

Financial assets and liabilities that are sensitive to interest rate risk and comprise those 
financial instruments carried at amortised cost. This includes cash balances, loans receivable 
and interest-bearing borrowings.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

Short-term financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost whereby the effects of 
discounting are considered to be immaterial are reflected as “non-rate” in the sensitivity 
analysis. Non-interest bearing assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost are specifically 
classified as non-rate financial instruments.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest 
rates (all other variables being constant) on the profit or loss and equity.

The sensitivity of the profit or loss is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates 
on the profit or loss for a year, based on the floating rate non–trading financial assets and 
financial liabilities held at 30 April 2018.

Assumptions

50bps increase in the local interest rates and 50bps in the foreign rates. This is senior 
management’s forecast of the change in the interest rates based on market expectations.
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34. Risk management (continued)
Financial assets by category

2018
Carrying 
amount Interest

Sensitivity of 
profit or loss

Sensitivity of 
equity, net 

of tax

Loan receivables 579 138 Non-rate - -
Financial assets held for trading 47 946 Non-rate - -
Amounts receivable in respect of stock 
broking activities 373 499 993 Non-rate - -
Margin and collateral accounts 11 027 981 Non-rate - -
Trade and other receivables 8 945 038 Non-rate - -
Loan to directors, management and 
employees 2 305 880 0.50% 11 529 8 532
Current tax receivable 2 641 773 Non-rate - -
Cash and cash equivalents 71 710 133 0.50% 358 551 263 947

470 757 882 370 080 272 479

The sensitivity of profit or loss post tax is deemed to be the same as the impact on equity. The tax rates used 
to determine the sensitivity of equity, net of tax are 28% for South Africa and 19% (2017: 20%) for the UK.

Financial liabilities by category

2018
Carrying 
amount Interest

Sensitivity of 
profit or loss

Sensitivity of 
equity, net

 of tax

Amounts payable in respect of stock 
broking activities 374 744 959 Non-rate - -
Trade and other payables 20 500 489 Non-rate - -
Current tax payable 268 327 Non-rate - -
Operating lease liability 452 732 Non-rate - -
Loans from related parties 13 128 473 0.50% 65 642 47 263
Financial liabilities held for trading 555 191 Non-rate - -

409 650 171 65 642 47 263

Financial assets by category

2017
Carrying 
amount Interest

Sensitivity of 
profit or loss

Sensitivity of 
equity, net 

of tax

Loan receivable 750 000 Non-rate - -
Financial assets held for trading 3 064 864 Non-rate - -
Amounts receivable in respect of stock 
broking activities 46 973 900 Non-rate - -
Margin and collateral accounts 8 574 583 Non-rate - -
Trade and other receivables 5 519 447 Non-rate - -
Loan to Directors, management and 
employees 2 946 505 0.50% 14 733 10 681
Current tax receivable 1 102 971 Non-rate - -
Cash and cash equivalents 63 435 808 0.50% 317 179 236 374

132 368 078 331 912 247 055

The sensitivity of profit or loss post tax is deemed to be the same as the impact on equity. The tax rates used 
to determine the sensitivity of equity, net of tax are 28% for South Africa and 19% (2017: 20%) for the UK.
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34. Risk management (continued)
Financial liabilities by category

2017
Carrying 
amount Interest

Sensitivity of 
profit or loss

Sensitivity of 
equity, net 

of tax

Amounts payable in respect of stock 
broking activities 41 589 998 Non-rate - -
Trade and other payables 21 468 878 Non-rate - -
Loans from related parties 13 097 486 0.50% 65 487 47 151
Current tax payable 4 299 Non-rate - -
Operating lease liability 377 374 Non-rate - -
Financial liabilities held for trading 2 668 353 Non-rate - -

79 206 388 65 487 47 151

34.1.2. Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various 
currency exposures, primarily with respect to Sterling (GBP) and US Dollar (USD). Foreign exchange 
risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities. Foreign exchange 
translation exposure which arises from the translation of the Group’s offshore operations into Rand 
is not considered a foreign currency exposure under IFRS. It is important to note that a growing 
portion of the Group’s revenues are earned in foreign currencies and the volatility of these currencies 
relative to the Rand will impact the Group’s Rand profit or loss and asset values.

The Group maintains cash balances with various offshore financial institutions to facilitate offshore 
trading on behalf of its clients. These foreign currency exposures are not hedged and are monitored 
by senior management.

Below are the carrying amounts of the foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities at reporting 
date:

2018 2017
Current assets USD GBP Total USD GBP Total
Trade receivables - 2 217 302 2 217 302 - 2 812 083 2 812 083
Cash and cash 
equivalents 36 590 532 13 346 991 49 937 523 21 326 291 16 386 225 37 712 515

36 590 532 15 564 293 52 154 825 21 326 291 19 198 308 40 524 598

Net exposure 36 590 532 15 564 293 52 154 825 21 326 291 19 198 308 40 524 598

Foreign exchange as at conversion date 2018 2017

ZAR/USD 12.37 13.31
ZAR/GBP 17.01 17.25

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 

The table below shows the Group’s sensitivity to the percentage below in value of the Rand against 
the various currencies. The sensitivity analysis measures the impact on the Group’s exposure in Rand 
(based on a change in the reporting date spot rate) and the impact on the Group’s Rand profitability 
given a simultaneous change in all currencies to which the Group is exposed at reporting date.  
Given the volatility of the Rand in the current reporting period, a different percentage change per 
currency was used in certain of the currencies, based on the movement in the closing spot rates from 
the prior year and after consideration of post year-end currency fluctuations.

A positive number below indicates an increase in profit and equity following the stated percentage 
weakening of the Rand against the other currencies. For a strengthening of the Rand, there would be 
an equal and opposite impact on profit and equity and the balances below would be negative.
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34. Risk management (continued)
The following variability per currency was used in the below foreign currency risk sensitivity analysis:

2018 2017

USD 10% 10%
GBP 10% 10%

USD GBP

Sensitivity 2018 2017 2018 2017

Sensitivity of profit or loss 3 659 053 2 132 629 1 556 429 1 919 831
Sensitivity of equity, net of tax 2 730 645 1 605 062 1 148 722 1 436 322

The sensitivity of profit or loss post tax is deemed to be the same as the impact on equity.  
The tax rates used to determine the sensitivity of equity, net of tax are 28% for South Africa and 19% 
(2017: 20%) for the UK.

34.1.3. Equity price risk

The Group’s listed equity securities are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties 
about future values of the investment securities. The Group manages the equity price risk through 
diversification and by placing limits on individual and total equity instruments. Reports on the equity 
portfolio are submitted to the Group’s senior management on a daily basis.

34.2. Credit risk

Credit risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from the default of a counterparty. Credit limits are 
agreed and approved by senior management. Different individuals are appointed to monitor the risk 
on a daily basis and ensure compliance with the limits set. With respect to Group entities, credit risk 
arises as a result of clients not meeting their settlement obligations on exchange trades. There is also 
a credit risk on agency derivate instrument trades where clients may not settle their daily margin calls 
and with the subsequent requirement to carry accounts should the value of the security fall below 
the amount loaned.

There is no significant concentration of credit risk for the Group. Other assets that expose the Group 
to credit risk consist principally of cash deposits and trade receivables. Credit risk with respect to 
trade receivables is limited due to the high credit rating of the Group’s counterparties.

The carrying value of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of the allowance 
for impairment losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

Below is the ageing of the financial assets at reporting date:

2018

Maximum 
exposure to 

credit risk
Not 

past due 
<30 

days
30+ 

days
60+ 

days

Loan receivable 579 138 579 138 - - -
Financial assets held for trading 47 946 47 946 - - -
Amounts receivable in respect of 
stock broking 373 499 993 373 499 993 - - -
activities
Margin and collateral accounts 11 027 981 11 027 981 - - -
Trade and other receivables 8 945 038 8 048 304 158 847 511 442 226 445
Current tax receivable 2 641 773 2 641 773 - - -
Loans to directors, management 
and employees 2 305 880 2 305 880 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 71 710 133 71 710 133 - - -

470 757 882 469 861 148 158 847 511 442 226 445
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34. Risk management (continued)

2017

Maximum
 exposure to

 credit risk
Not past 

due <30 days 30+ days 60+ days

Loan receivable 750 000 750 000 - - -
Financial assets held for trading 3 064 864 3 064 864 - - -
Amounts receivable in respect  
of stock broking activities 46 973 900 46 973 900 - - -
Margin and collateral accounts 8 574 583 8 574 583 - - -
Trade and other receivables 5 519 447 3 843 027 208 966 895 304 572 148
Current tax receivable 1 102 971 1 102 971 - - -
Loans to directors, management  
and employees 2 946 505 2 946 505 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 63 435 808 63 435 808 - - -

132 368 078 130 691 658 208 966 895 304 572 148

Credit quality of financial assets neither past due nor impaired:  

2018 Good Satisfactory Risky Total

Loan receivable 579 138 - - 579 138
Financial assets held for trading 47 946 - - 47 946
Amounts receivable in respect of stock broking 
activities 373 499 993 - - 373 499 993
Margin and collateral accounts 11 027 981 - - 11 027 981
Trade and other receivables 8 207 151 511 442 226 445 8 945 038
Current tax receivable 2 641 773 - - 2 641 773
Loans to directors, management and employees 2 305 880 - - 2 305 880
Cash and cash equivalents 71 710 133 - - 71 710 133

470 019 995 511 442 226 445 470 757 882

2017 Good Satisfactory Risky Total

Loan receivable 750 000 - - 750 000
Financial assets held for trading 3 064 864 - - 3 064 864
Amounts receivable in respect of stock broking 
activities 46 973 900 - - 46 973 900
Margin and collateral accounts 8 574 583 - - 8 574 583
Trade and other receivables 2 746 765 2 200 534 572 148 5 519 447
Current tax receivable 1 102 971 - - 1 102 971
Loans to directors, management and employees 2 946 505 - - 2 946 505
Cash and cash equivalents 63 435 808 - - 63 435 808

129 595 396 2 200 534 572 148 132 368 078

Good: It is probable that the asset will be fully recovered.

Satisfactory: It is highly likely that the asset will be fully recovered, however, the counterparty has indicated 
possible evidence of deterioration and is being monitored regularly.

Risky: The counterparty’s ability to meet their obligations is concerning.

An amount of R1 351 142 was provided for as doubtful debts due to a change in the credit quality of the trade 
receivable. Refer to note 19 for further details. This amount was excluded from the above tables.

Credit quality of cash at bank and short-term deposits, excluding cash on hand

The credit quality of cash at bank and short-term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are neither past due 
nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if available) or historical information 
about counterparty default rates.
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34. Risk management (continued)

Credit rating Rating Rating Agency 2018 2017

Standard Bank Baa3 Moody’s 17 544 868 19 484 200
First National Bank Baa3 Moody’s 3 035 004 1 711 159
Bank of New York Aa1 Moody’s 5 073 100 2 625
Bank of Scotland Aa3 Moody’s 7 692 510 18 864 316
JP Morgan Aa2 Moody’s 38 352 695 23 302 951

71 698 177 63 365 271

Given the current credit ratings and historic counterparty default rates the carrying amounts are considered 
appropriate. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the financial 
assets.

34.3. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or other financial assets.

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it has sufficient liquidity 
to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

There were no breaches or defaults of any loan obligations during the current year.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared and adequate utilised borrowing facilities are monitored. On a daily basis 
there are individuals who monitor the Group’s cash holdings.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities:

Financial liabilities by category

2018
On 

demand
1-6 

months
6-12 

months
13-60 

months
>60 

months Total

Amounts payable in 
respect of stock broking 
activities 374 744 959 - - - - 374 744 959
Trade and other payables 20 500 489 - - - - 20 500 489
Current tax payable 268 327 - - - - 268 327
Loan from related parties 128 222 - - 13 000 251 - 13 128 473
Operating lease liability 452 732 - - - - 452 732
Financial liabilities held 
for trading 555 191 - - - - 555 191

396 649 920 - - 13 000 251 - 409 650 171

2017
Amounts payable in 
respect of stock broking 
activities 41 589 998 - - - - 41 589 998
Trade and other payables 21 468 878 - - - - 21 468 878
Loan from related parties 97 235 - - 13 000 251 - 13 097 486
Current tax payable 4 299 - - - - 4 299
Operating lease liability 377 374 - - - - 377 374
Financial liabilities held 
for trading 2 668 353 - - - - 2 668 353

66 206 137 - - 13 000 251 - 79 206 388
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34. Risk management (continued)

34.4. Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and 
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes cash and cash equivalents 
disclosed, in note 22, the borrowings disclosed, in note 25 and equity as disclosed in the statement 
of financial position.

The JSE’s Financial Resources Requirements Rule 4.55, read with directives DC, requires a minimum 
capital resource based on position risk, counterparty risk, foreign exchange risk, large exposure risk, 
custody risk and fixed expenditure risk. The Group monitors its capital adequacy requirements on a 
daily basis.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance 
or externally imposed capital requirements from the previous year.

There were no regulatory capital breaches and the Group had sufficient capital during the year.

Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

The fair value of the financial instruments is the price that would be received for the sale of the assets 
or paid for the transfer of a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.

The Group classifies assets and liabilities measured at fair value using a fair value hierarchy that 
reflects whether observable or unobservable inputs are used in determining the fair value of the 
item. Fair value may be determined using unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities where these are readily available and the price represents actual and regularly 
occurring market transactions. If this information is not available, fair value is measured using another 
valuation technique that maximises the use of relevant observable inputs and minimises the use of 
unobservable inputs. Where a valuation model is applied and the Group cannot mark-to-market, it 
applies a mark-to-model approach, subject to valuation adjustments.

The quoted market price for assets held by the Group is based on unadjusted quoted prices and 
these financial instruments are classified as level 1 assets.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using 
valuation techniques. The Group uses available observable data. These assets are classified as level 
2 assets.

If one or more significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the instrument is included 
in level 3. As at 30 April 2018 there are no level 3 instruments.

Financial assets held for trading

2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Stock account 47 946 - - 47 946

2017
Stock account 3 064 864 - - 3 064 864

Financial liabilities held for trading

2018
Stock account 555 191 - - 555 191

2017
Stock account 2 668 353 - - 2 668 353
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35. Commitments

Operating leases

The Group leases three office premises under operating lease arrangements. These are for its Johannesburg, 
Cape Town and London premises. The lease periods relating to the premises are seven years, month-to-month 
and quarterly respectively. Lease payments are renegotiated at the appropriate time to reflect market rentals. 
The Group is not restricted from entering into any sub-lease arrangements, on condition that the lessor is 
informed. No contingent rent is payable. Two of the leased properties are currently sub-let by the Group.

2018 2017

Future minimum lease payments
Within one year 4 087 486 2 393 632
In second to fifth year inclusive 19 892 165 -
Later than five years 9 667 495 -

33 647 146 2 393 632

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Lease expense 6 710 228 6 099 703
Rental income from sub-letting (471 468) (456 746)

6 238 760 5 642 957

Operating lease liability

Straight lining of the lease-liability (452 732) (377 374)

36. Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities

The Group has two main reportable segments that compromise the structure used by the Exco to make 
key operating decisions and assess performance. The Group’s reportable segments are operating segments 
that are differentiated by region (referred to as business segments). Each business segment utilises different 
technology and marketing strategies.

The measurement policies the Group uses for segment reporting under IFRS 8 are the same as those used 
in its financial statements, except that certain items are not included in arriving at the operating profit of the 
operating segments (post- employment benefit expenses). In addition, corporate assets which are not directly 
attributable to the business activities of any operating segment are not allocated to a segment.

The Group evaluates the performance of its reportable segments based on revenue from operations.  
The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if the sales and transfers were entered into under 
the same terms and conditions as would have been entered into in a market related transaction.

2018 SA Region UK Region Total

Revenue from external customers 146 020 240 30 971 902 176 992 142
Intersegment revenues eliminated 1 824 233 1 273 564 3 097 797
Other income 4 155 747 - 4 155 747

152 000 220 32 245 466 184 245 686

Operating expenses (150 730 862) (19 747 415) (170 478 277)
Depreciation and amortisation (1 192 229) (94 232) (1 286 461)
Interest income 2 891 821 632 892 3 524 713
Finance costs (2 609 769) - (2 609 769)
Forex gains/(losses) for the year 360 811 (5 719 581) (5 358 770)
Share of loss in equity-accounted investee (50 000) - (50 000)
Income tax expense (383 630) (2 735 274) (3 118 904)

Segment profit 286 364 4 581 856 4 868 220

Segment Assets 466 440 578 28 737 886 495 178 464
Segment Liabilities (408 101 404) (1 548 767) (409 650 171)
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36. Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities (continued)

Revenue reconciliation
Total revenue per reportable segments 180 089 939
Other income 4 155 747
Elimination of intersegment revenues (3 097 797)

Entity’s revenue per profit or loss statement 181 147 889

Profit or Loss reconciliation
Total profit for reportable segments 4 868 220
Elimination of intersegment profits (500 000)

Entity’s profit per profit or loss statement 4 368 220

Segment information is presented per regions in which the Group operates:

SA Region - This includes all the South African based companies (Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited, Avior 
Capital Investments (RF) (Pty) Limited, Avior Wealth Services (Pty) Limited, Groombridge Nominees (Pty) 
Limited and A-Trade (Pty) Limited).

UK Region - This includes the Group’s foreign based 100% owned subsidiary operating in UK (Avior Capital 
Markets International Limited).

There were no major customers from the reported segments representing more than 10% of revenue.

2017 SA Region UK Region Total

Revenue from external customers 138 376 109 30 153 759 168 529 868
Intersegment revenue and income - 3 529 304 3 529 304
Other income 1 731 653 - 1 731 653

140 107 762 33 683 063 173 790 825

Operating expenses (137 817 906) (10 501 342) (148 319 248)
Depreciation and amortisation (1 911 652) (45 636) (1 957 288)
Interest income 3 186 382 22 644 3 209 026
Finance costs (877 812) - (877 812)
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) for the year (3 105 580) 1 282 997 (1 822 583)
Income tax expense (317 394) 6 617 724 6 300 330

Segment profit (736 200) 27 530 147 26 793 947

Segment Assets 114 715 226 38 561 302 153 276 528
Segment Liabilities (78 680 277) (526 111) (79 206 388)

Revenue reconciliation
Total revenue per reportable segments 172 059 172
Other income 1 731 653
Elimination of intersegment revenues (3 529 304)

Entity’s revenue per profit or loss statement 170 261 521

Profit or Loss reconciliation
Total profit for reportable segments 26 793 947

Entity’s profit per profit or loss statement 26 793 947
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37. Contingent liability not recognised in the financial statements

Avior Capital Markets (Pty) Limited is currently involved in arbitration proceedings instituted by a  
non-controlling shareholder of the Group for the payment of damages suffered in respect of certain alleged 
breaches of a sale agreement concluded during or about February 2012. The claimant claims for payment 
of an amount of R5 542 917, interest and costs, which is disputed by the Group and the other respondents.  
At this stage, the arbitration process is still ongoing. Accordingly, the directors are, save for the capital amount 
claimed, not in a position to determine the total estimated financial effect of the claim on the Group in so far 
as it relates to the interest and costs components. Depending on the outcome of the arbitration proceedings, 
the Group may be able to recover a portion of its legal expenses. The Group insurers have also been notified 
of the claim and may also contribute towards the legal expenses incurred in respect of defending the claim.

38. Events after the reporting period

38.1. Change in company secretary

Ms Ateeqah Khan resigned as Company Secretary of Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited and 
Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Pty) Limited was appointed as the new Company Secretary 
with effect from 03 May 2018.

38.2. Disposal of A-Trade (Pty) Limited Investment and associated asset impairment

Refer to note 33.7.2. for further information regarding the disposal of A-Trade (Pty) Limited.

38.3. Changes to the Board

Several changes were made to the Board after the reporting period. 

On 18 May the following changes were made:

• Mr Elias Masilela Non-Executive Director and member of the Audit and Risk Committee and 
chairperson of the Social and Ethics Committee and the Remuneration Committee of Avior Capital 
Markets Holdings Limited resigned.

• Ms Octavia Matshidiso Matloa Non-Executive Director and chairperson of the Audit and Risk 
committee and member of the Social and Ethics committee and the Remuneration Committee of 
Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited resigned.

• Stephan David Price was appointed as Non-Executive Director and as member of the Audit and 
Risk committee, the Social and Ethics committee and the Remuneration Committee of Avior Capital 
Markets Holdings Limited.

On 1 June the following changes were made:

• Mr Thabo Mokgatlha was appointed as an independent Non-Executive Director of Avior Capital 
Markets Holdings Limited. Furthermore, Mr Mokgatlha was appointed as the Chairperson of 
the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee and as member of the combined Social, Ethics and 
Remuneration Committee.

• Mr Justin Larsen, who was acting as the interim Finance Director of the Company since 30 December 
2017, was appointed as the full-time Finance Director of Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited.

38.4. Avior Capital Markets International Limited membership of the London Stock Exchange (LSE)

On 16 June 2018 Avior Capital Markets International Limited was approved as a member of the LSE. 
This event strengthens the Groups South African and global trading proposition by deepening it’s 
trade execution and product offerings.
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39. Comparative figures

Immaterial reclassifications were made to the prior year’s financial statements to enhance comparability 
with the current year’s financial statements. The changes were made to reflect a more consistent way of 
presenting financial information with reference to the industry. As a result, certain line items were amended 
in the statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and statements of cash flow, and the related notes to the financial statements.

The items were reclassified as follows:

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Previously 
reported

After
reclassification

Revenue 178 505 436 168 529 868
Cost of sales (41 200 138) -
Other income 2 622 779 1 731 653
Operating expenses (121 810 853) (150 276 536)
Investment revenue 3 220 530 3 209 026
Fair value adjustments 11 031 -
Finance costs (855 168) (877 812)
Foreign exchange losses for the year - (1 822 583)
Profit for the year 26 793 950 26 793 950
Other comprehensive income:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (5 561 126) (6 194 822)

Total comprehensive income for the year 21 232 824 20 599 128

Statement of Financial Position
Assets
Loans to directors, managers and employees 2 424 767 2 946 505
Trade and other receivables 5 653 858 5 519 447
Amounts receivable in respect of stock broking activities 46 970 215 46 973 900

55 048 840 55 439 852

Liabilities
Trade and other payables (17 860 309) (21 468 878)
Loans from related parties - current liabilities - (97 235)
Provisions (3 323 061) -
Amounts payable in respect of stock broking activities  (41 581 728) (41 589 998)

(62 765 098) (63 156 111)

40. Prior period errors
During the preparation of the current year’s annual financial statements the following prior period errors 
were noted.

40.1. Exchange differences on translating foreign operations
The prior year’s other comprehensive income, per the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income, was overstated by R633 706. The exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations closing balance was incorrectly used instead of the year’s movement.

40.2. Earnings Per Share
The prior year’s EPS was misstated by 2.28 (cents). The starting point for the original calculation was 
incorrect being total comprehensive income instead of profit for the year. The recalculated value is 
15.78 (cents).
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41. Analysis of shareholders

As at 30 April 2018

Shareholder profile

Analysis of shareholding

Distribution
Number of 

shareholders %
Number of 

shares held %

Private companies 2 3.06 87 288 364 59.67
Individuals 80 82.65 56 781 221 38.82
Hedge fund 2 2.05 1 658 262 1.13
Trusts 7 7.14 413 902 0.28
Close corporation 1 1.02 70 000 0.05
Banks and brokers 3 3.06 45 846 0.03
Endowment fund 1 1.02 27 505 0.02

96 100.00 146 285 100 100.00

Range of shareholding
Number of 

shareholdings %
Number of 

shares %
1 - 1 000 shares 26 26.53 5 944 -
1 001 - 10 000 shares 17 17.35 78 565 0.05
10 001 - 100 000 shares 34 34.69 1 671 817 1.14
100 001 - 1 000 000 shares 14 14.29 6 479 317 4.44
1 000 001 shares and over 5 7.14 138 049 457 94.37

96 100.00 146 285 100 100.00

Shareholder spread analysis

To the best knowledge of the directors and after reasonable enquiry, as at 30 April 2018, the spread of 
shareholders, as defined in the JSE’s listing requirements, were:

Public/non-public shareholding split
Type of shareholders

Number of 
shareholders

Number of 
shares held %

Public 88 8 279 752 5.66
Non-public 8 138 005 348 94.34

96 146 285 100 100.00

Analysis of non-public shareholders

Types of shareholders
Number of 

shareholders
Number of 

shares held %

Directors 2 133 648 957 96.80

Employee share schemes 6 4 356 391 3.20

8 138 005 348 100.00

All shareholders are South African.
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NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given of the annual general meeting of shareholders of Avior Capital Markets to be held at Avior 
Capital Markets Limited, 140 West Street, Sandton at 10 am on 9 October 2018 (the AGM).

Purpose

The purpose of the AGM is to transact the business set out in the agenda below.

Agenda

1. Presentation of the audited AFS of the Company, including the reports of the Directors and the 
Audit and Risk Committee for the year ended 30 April 2018. The annual report, of which this 
notice forms part, contains the Group financial statements and the aforementioned reports. The 
AFS, including the unmodified audit opinion, are available on Avior Capital Markets’ website at  
www.avior.co.za, or may be requested and obtained in person, at no charge, at the registered office of Avior 
Capital Markets’ during office hours.

2. To consider and, if deemed fit, approve, with or without modification, the following ordinary resolutions:

Note: For any of the ordinary resolutions numbers 1 to 9 (inclusive) to be adopted, more than 50% of the voting rights 
exercised on each such ordinary resolution must be exercised in favour thereof. For ordinary resolution number 10, 
at least 75% of voting rights must be exercised in favour thereof.

3. Ordinary resolution number 1.1: Ms Marilyn Ramplin retirement and re-election

“Resolved that Ms Marilyn Ramplin, who retires by rotation in terms of the memorandum of incorporation 
of the Company and, being eligible, offers herself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as a Director.”

4. Ordinary resolution number 1.2: Mr Peter Koutromanos retirement and re-election
“Resolved that Mr Peter Koutromanos, who retires by rotation in terms of the memorandum of incorporation 
of the Company and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as a Director.”

5. Ordinary resolution number 1.3: Mr Kevin Mattison retirement and re-election
“Resolved that Mr Kevin Mattison, who retires by rotation in terms of the memorandum of incorporation of 
the Company and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as a Director.”

6. Ordinary resolution number 1.4: Mr Justin Larsen retirement
“Resolved that Mr Justin Larsen, who retires by rotation in terms of the memorandum of incorporation of the 
Company and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as a Director.”
The reason for ordinary resolution number 1.1 – 1.4 is that the memorandum of incorporation of the Company 
requires that all Directors rotate at every annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, may 
offer themselves for re-election as Directors. A brief curriculum vitae of the Directors up for re-election to the 
Board appears on pages 18 - 19 of the IAR.

7. Ordinary resolution number 2: Mr Thabo Mokgatlha Director election

“Resolved that Mr Thabo Mokgatlha, being a new appointee to the Board, being eligible, be and is hereby 
elected as a Director of the Company.

A brief curriculum vitae of the Mr Thabo Mokgatlha appears on page 18 of the IAR.

8. Ordinary resolution number 3: Mr Stephen Price Director election

Resolved that Mr Stephan Price, being a new appointee to the Board, being eligible, be and is hereby elected 
as a Director of the Company.

A brief curriculum vitae of Mr Stephen Price appears on page 18 of the IAR.

The reason for ordinary resolution number 2 and 3 is that the memorandum of incorporation of the 
Company, the Listings Requirements of the JSE and, to the extent applicable, the Companies Act, require that 
the appointment of all Directors appointed throughout a period be confirmed by shareholders at the next 
AGM of the Company.
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9. Appointment of the members of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company

Note: For the avoidance of doubt, all references to the Audit and Risk Committee of the Group is a reference to the 
audit committee as contemplated in the Companies Act.

10. Ordinary resolution number 4: Mr Thabo Mokgatlha appointment as Chairperson of the Audit and  
Risk Committee

“Resolved that, Mr Thabo Mokgatlha, being eligible and subject to the passing of ordinary resolution number 2, 
be and is hereby appointed as a member and the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company, 
as recommended by the Board of Directors of the Company, until the next AGM of the Company.”

A brief curriculum vitae of Mr Thabo Mokgatlha appears on page 18 of the IAR.

11. Ordinary resolution number 5: Mr Stephen Price appointment as member of the Audit and  
Risk Committee

“Resolved that Mr Stephan David Price, being eligible and subject to the passing of ordinary resolution 
number 3, be and is hereby appointed as a member of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company, as 
recommended by the Board of Directors of the Company, until the next AGM of the Company.”

A brief curriculum vitae of Mr Stephan Price appears on page 18 of the IAR.

12. Ordinary resolution number 6: Ms Marilyn Ramplin appointment as member of the Audit and  
Risk Committee

“Resolved that Ms Marilyn Ramplin, being eligible, be and is hereby appointed as a member of the Audit and 
Risk Committee of the Company, as recommended by the Board of Directors of the Company, until the next 
AGM of the Company.”

A brief curriculum vitae of Ms Marilyn Ramplin appears on page 18 of the IAR.

The reason for ordinary resolutions numbers 4 - 6 (inclusive) is that the Company, being a public listed 
company, must appoint an audit committee and the Companies Act requires that the members of such audit 
committee be appointed, or re-appointed at each AGM of a company.

13. Ordinary resolution number 7: Appointment of auditor 

“Resolved that BDO be and is hereby appointed as auditor of the Company for the ensuing year on the 
recommendation of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Company.”

The reason for ordinary resolution number 7 is that the Company, being a public listed company, must have 
its financial results audited and such auditor must be appointed or re-appointed each year at the AGM of the 
Company as required by the Companies Act.

14. Ordinary resolution number 8: Non-binding endorsement of Avior Capital Markets’ remuneration policy

“Resolved that the Company’s remuneration policy, as set out on pages 31 to 34 of this annual report, be and 
is hereby endorsed by way of a non-binding advisory vote.” 

The reason for ordinary resolution number 9 is that the King IV™, recommends, and the JSE Listings 
Requirements require, that the remuneration policy of a company be tabled for a non-binding advisory vote 
by shareholders at each annual general meeting of the Company. This enables shareholders to express their 
views on the remuneration policy adopted. The effect of ordinary resolution number 9, if passed, will be to 
endorse the Company’s remuneration policy.

Ordinary resolution number 8 is of an advisory nature only and failure to pass this resolution will therefore not 
have any legal consequences relating to existing remuneration agreements. However, the Board will take the 
outcome of the vote into consideration when considering amendments to the Company’s remuneration policy.
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15. Ordinary resolution number 9: Non-binding advisory vote on Avior Capital Markets’s implementation 
report on the remuneration policy

“Resolved that the Company’s implementation report with regard to its remuneration policy, as set out on 
pages 31 to 34 of this annual report, be and is hereby endorsed by way of a non-binding vote.”

The reason for ordinary resolution number 9 is that King IV™ recommends that the implementation report 
on a company’s remuneration policy be tabled for a non-binding advisory vote by shareholders at each AGM 
of the Company. This enables shareholders to express their views on the implementation of a company’s 
remuneration policy. The effect of ordinary resolution number 9, if passed, will be to endorse the Company’s 
implementation report in relation to its remuneration policy. Ordinary resolution number 9 is of an advisory 
nature only and failure to pass this resolution will therefore not have any legal consequences relating to 
existing remuneration agreements. However, the Board will take the outcome of the vote into consideration 
when considering amendments to the Company’s remuneration policy and its implementation.

16. Ordinary resolution number 10: General Authority to issue ordinary shares for cash

“Resolved that the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised, by way of a general authority, to 
allot and issue any of the Company’s unissued shares for cash as they in their discretion may deem fit, without 
restriction, subject to the provisions of the Company’s MOI, the Companies Act and the Listings Requirements 
of the JSE, provided that.

• The approval shall be valid until the date of the next AGM of the Company, provided it shall not extend 
beyond fifteen months from the date of this resolution.

• The general issues of shares for cash under this authority may not exceed, in the aggregate, 15% of the 
Company’s issued share capital (number of securities) of that class as at the date of this notice of AGM, it 
being recorded that ordinary shares issued pursuant to a rights offer to shareholders, shall not diminish 
the number of ordinary shares that comprise the 15% of the ordinary shares that can be issued in terms of 
this ordinary resolution. As at the date of this notice of AGM, 15% of the Company’s issued ordinary share 
capital (net of treasury shares) amounts to 21 942 765 ordinary shares.

• In determining the price at which an issue of shares will be made in terms of this authority, the maximum 
discount permitted will be 10% of the weighted average traded price of such shares, as determined over 
the 30 business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed between the Company and the 
party subscribing for the securities. The JSE will be consulted for a ruling if the securities have not traded in 
such 30 business day period.

• Any such issue will only be made to public shareholders as defined in paragraphs 4.25 to 4.27 of the 
Listings Requirements and not to related parties.

• Any such issue will only be comprised of securities of a class already in issue or, if this is not the case, will 
be limited to such securities or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue.

• In the event that the securities issued represent, on a cumulative basis, 5% or more of the number of 
securities in issue prior to that issue, an announcement containing the full details of such issue shall be 
published on SENS.”

For listed entities wishing to issue shares for cash other than issues by way of rights offers, in consideration 
for acquisitions and/or to duly approved share incentive schemes, it is necessary for the Board of the 
Company to obtain the prior authority of the shareholders in accordance with the Listings Requirements and 
the memorandum of incorporation of the Company. Accordingly, the reason for ordinary resolution number 
10 is to obtain a general authority from shareholders to issue shares for cash in compliance with the Listings 
Requirements and the memorandum of incorporation of the Company.

For this resolution to be adopted, at least 75% of the shareholders present in person or by proxy and entitled 
to vote on this resolution at the AGM must cast their vote in favor of this resolution.
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• To consider and, if deemed fit, pass, with or without modification, the following special resolutions:
Note:
For any of the special resolutions numbers 1 to 4 to be adopted, at least 75% of the voting rights exercised on each special 
resolution must be exercised in favor thereof.

 17. Remuneration of non-executive directors: Special resolution number 1

“Resolved, in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, that the Company be and is hereby authorised to 
remunerate its directors for their services as directors on the basis set out below, provided that this authority 
will be valid until the next annual general meeting of the Company.”

Proposed non-executive director fees (2018/2019)

Non-Executive director Retainer fee
Marilyn Ramplin (Chairperson of the Board) R221 000
Thabo Mokgatlha R204 000
Stephen Price R204 000

The fees will be effective from 1 October 2019. The fees represent a 5.5% increase based on a benchmark 
exercise conducted during the 2018 financial year. Ms Marilyn Ramplin is due a further R59 000 payment to 
align her 2017/2018 fees to the benchmark exercise performed.

Special resolution number 1 is for the Company to obtain the approval of shareholders by way of a special 
resolution for the payment of remuneration to its non-executive directors in accordance with the requirements 
of the Companies Act.

The effect of special resolution number 1 is that the Company will be able to pay its non-executive directors 
for the services they render to the Company as directors without requiring further shareholder approval until 
the next annual general meeting of the Company.

18. Inter-company financial assistance

18.1. Special resolution number 2: Inter-company financial assistance

“Resolved, in terms of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as a general approval, that the Board 
of the Company be and is hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides any direct or 
indirect financial assistance (“financial assistance” will herein have the meaning attributed to it in 
section 45(1) of the Companies Act) that the Board of the Company may deem fit to any company or 
corporation that is related or inter-related (“related” or “inter-related” will herein have the meaning 
attributed to it in section 2 of the Companies Act) to the Company, on the terms and conditions 
and for amounts that the Board of the Company may determine, provided that the aforementioned 
approval shall be valid until the date of the next AGM of the Company.”

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 2 is to grant the Directors of the Company 
the authority, until the next AGM of the Company, to provide direct or indirect financial assistance to 
any company or corporation which is related or inter-related to the Company. This means that the 
Company is, inter alia, authorised to grant loans to its subsidiaries and to guarantee the debt of its 
subsidiaries.

18.2. Special resolution number 3: Financial assistance for the subscription and/or purchase of 
shares in the Company or a related or inter-related company

“Resolved, in terms of section 44(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, as a general approval, that the Board 
of the Company be and is hereby authorised to approve that the Company provides any direct or 
indirect financial assistance (“financial assistance” will herein have the meaning attributed to it in 
sections 44(1) and 44(2) of the Companies Act) that the Board of the Company may deem fit to any 
company or corporation that is related or inter-related to the Company (“related” or “inter-related” 
will herein have the meaning attributed to it in section 2 of the Companies Act) and/or to any financier 
who provides funding by subscribing for preference shares or other securities in the Company or any 
company or corporation that is related or inter-related to the Company, on the terms and conditions 
and for amounts that the Board of the Company may determine for the purpose of, or in connection 
with the subscription of any option, or any shares or other securities, issued or to be issued by the 
Company or a related or inter-related company or corporation, or for the purchase of any shares or 
securities of the Company or a related or inter-related company or corporation, provided that the 
aforementioned approval shall be valid until the date of the next AGM of the Company.”
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The reason for and effect of special resolution number 3 is to grant the Directors the authority, until 
the next AGM of the Company, to provide financial assistance to any company or corporation which 
is related or inter-related to the Company and/or to any financier for the purpose of or in connection 
with the subscription or purchase of options, shares or other securities in the Company or any related 
or inter-related company or corporation. This means that the Company is authorised, inter alia, to 
grant loans to its subsidiaries and to guarantee and furnish security for the debt of its subsidiaries 
where any such financial assistance is directly or indirectly related to a party subscribing for options, 
shares or securities in the Company or its subsidiaries. A typical example of where the Company may 
rely on this authority is where a subsidiary raised funds by way of issuing preference shares and the 
third-party funder requires the Company to furnish security, by way of a guarantee or otherwise, 
for the obligations of its subsidiary to the third-party funder arising from the issue of the preference 
shares. The Company has no immediate plans to use this authority and is simply obtaining same in 
the interests of prudence and good corporate governance should the unforeseen need arise to use 
the authority.

In terms of and pursuant to the provisions of sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act, the Directors 
of the Company confirm that the Board will satisfy itself, after considering all reasonably foreseeable 
financial circumstances of the Company, that immediately after providing any financial assistance as 
contemplated in special resolution numbers 2 and 3 above:

• The assets of the Company (fairly valued) will equal or exceed the liabilities of the Company (fairly 
valued) (taking into consideration the reasonably foreseeable contingent assets and liabilities of 
the Company).

• The Company will be able to pay its debts as they become due in the ordinary course of business 
for a period of 12 months.

• The terms under which any financial assistance is proposed to be provided will be fair and 
reasonable to the Company.

• All relevant conditions and restrictions (if any) relating to the granting of financial assistance by the 
Company as contained in the Company’s memorandum of incorporation have been met.

19. Special resolution number 4: Share buy-back by Avior Capital Markets Holdings and its subsidiaries

“Resolved, as a special resolution, that the Company and the subsidiaries of the Company be and are hereby 
authorised, as a general approval, to repurchase any of the shares issued by the Company, upon such terms 
and conditions and in such amounts as the Directors may from time to time determine, but subject to the 
provisions of sections 46 and 48 of the Companies Act, the memorandum of incorporation of the Company 
and the Listings Requirements, including, inter alia, that:

• The general repurchase of the shares may only be implemented through the order book operated by the JSE 
trading system and done without any prior understanding or arrangement between the Company and the 
counterparty.

• This general authority shall only be valid until the next AGM of the Company, provided that it shall not extend 
beyond fifteen months from the date of this resolution.

• An announcement must be published as soon as the Company has acquired shares constituting, on a cumulative 
basis, 3% of the number of shares in issue on the date that this authority is granted, containing full details 
thereof, as well as for each 3% in aggregate of the initial number of shares acquired thereafter.

• The general authority to repurchase is limited to a maximum of 20% by Avior Capital Markets Holdings or 10% by 
the Group’s subsidiaries in the aggregate in any one financial year of the Company’s issued share capital at the 
time the authority is granted.

• A resolution has been passed by the Board of Directors approving the purchase, that the Company has satisfied 
the solvency and liquidity test as defined in the Companies Act and that, since the solvency and liquidity test was 
applied, there have been no material changes to the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries (the 
Group).
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• The general repurchase is authorised by the Company’s memorandum of incorporation.

• Repurchases must not be made at a price more than 10% above the weighted average of the market value of the 
shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date that the transaction is effected. The JSE will be 
consulted for a ruling if the Company’s securities have not traded in such five business day period.

• the Company may at any point in time only appoint one agent to effect any repurchase(s) on the Company’s 
behalf.

• the Company may not affect a repurchase during any prohibited period as defined in terms of the Listings 
Requirements unless there is a repurchase programme in place, which programme has been submitted to the 
JSE in writing prior to the commencement of the prohibited period and executed by an independent third party, 
as contemplated in terms of paragraph 5.72(h) of the Listings Requirements.”

The reason for and effect of special resolution number 4 is to grant the Directors a general authority in terms 
of its MOI and the Listings Requirements for the acquisition by the Company or by a subsidiary of the Company 
of shares issued by the Company on the basis reflected in special resolution number 4. The Company has 
no immediate plans to use this authority and is simply obtaining same in the interests of prudence and good 
corporate governance should the unforeseen need arise to use the authority.

In terms of section 48(2) (b)(i) of the Companies Act, subsidiaries may not hold more than 10%, in aggregate, 
of the number of the issued shares of a Company. For the avoidance of doubt, a pro rata repurchase by 
the Company from all its shareholders will not require shareholder approval, save to the extent as may be 
required by the Companies Act.

20. Other business

To transact such other business as may be transacted at an annual general meeting or raised by shareholders 
with or without advance notice to the Company.

Information relating to the special resolutions

1. The Directors of the Company or its subsidiaries will only utilise the general authority to repurchase 
shares of the Company as set out in special resolution number 4 to the extent that the Directors, after 
considering the maximum number of shares to be purchased, are of the opinion that the position of the 
Company and its subsidiaries (Group) would not be compromised as to the following:

• The Group’s ability in the ordinary course of business to pay its debts for a period of 12 months after the 
date of this AGM and for a period of 12 months after the repurchase.

• The consolidated assets of the Group will at the time of the AGM and at the time of making such 
determination be more than the consolidated liabilities of the Group. The assets and liabilities should be 
recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policies used in the latest audited AFS of the 
Group.

• The ordinary capital and reserves of the Group after the repurchase will remain adequate for the purpose 
of the business of the Company for a period of 12 months after the AGM and after the date of the share 
repurchase.

• The working capital available to the Group after the repurchase will be sufficient for the Group’s 
requirements for a period of 12 months after the date of the notice of the AGM.

General information in respect of major shareholders, related material changes and the share capital of the 
Company is contained in the IAR of which this notice forms part of, as well as the full set of AFS, being available 
on Avior Capital Markets’s website at www.avior.co.za or which may be requested and obtained in person, at 
no charge, at the registered office of Avior Capital Markets during office hours.

2. The Directors, whose names appear on pages 18 - 19 of the IAR of which this notice forms part, collectively 
and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given and certify that to 
the best of their knowledge and belief there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any 
statement false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made 
and that this notice of AGM contains all information required by the Listings Requirements.
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Voting
1. The date on which shareholders must be recorded as such in the share register maintained by the transfer 

secretaries of the Company (the Share Register) for purposes of being entitled to receive this notice is 
Friday, 31 August 2018.

2. The date on which shareholders must be recorded in the Share Register for purposes of being entitled 
to attend and vote at this AGM is Friday, 28 September 2018, with the last day to trade being Tuesday, 25 
September 2018.

3. Meeting participants will be required to provide proof of identification to the reasonable satisfaction of 
the Chairperson of the AGM and must accordingly bring a copy of their identity document, passport or 
driver’s license to the AGM. If in doubt as to whether any document will be regarded as satisfactory proof 
of identification, meeting participants should contact the transfer secretaries for guidance.

4. Shareholders entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak 
and vote thereat in their stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. A form of proxy, which 
sets out the relevant instructions for its completion, is enclosed for use by a certificated shareholder or 
own-name registered dematerialised shareholder who wishes to be represented at the AGM. Completion 
of a form of proxy will not preclude such shareholder from attending and voting (in preference to that 
shareholder’s proxy) at the AGM.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy and the authority (if any) under which it is signed must reach the 
transfer secretaries of the Company at the address provided on the inside back cover of this IAR by not 
later than 12:00 on 7 October 2018 provided that any form of proxy not delivered to the transfer secretary 
by this time may be handed to the chairperson of the AGM prior to the commencement of the AGM, at 
any time before the appointed proxy exercises any shareholder rights at the AGM.

6. Dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name registered dematerialised shareholders, who wish 
to attend the AGM in person, will need to request their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) 
or broker to provide them with the necessary authority in terms of the custody agreement entered into 
between such shareholders and the CSDP or broker.

7. Dematerialised shareholders, other than own-name registered dematerialised shareholders, who are 
unable to attend the AGM and who wish to be represented thereat, must provide their CSDP or broker 
with their voting instructions in terms of the custody agreement entered into between themselves and 
the CSDP or broker in the manner and time stipulated therein.

8. Shareholders present in person, by proxy or by authorised representative shall, on a show of hands, have 
one vote each and, on a poll, will have one vote in respect of each share held.

ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION IN THE AGM

Please note that the Company intends to make provision for shareholders of Avior Holdings, or their proxies, to 
participate in the AGM by way of electronic communication, if requested to do so in the manner and form set out 
below. In this regard, video-conferencing facilities will only be made available in the Main Boardroom, 3rd floor,  
the Hudson, 28 Hudson Street, Cape Town, 8001. Should you wish to participate in the AGM electronically, you 
or your proxy are required to confirm your attendance and participation at the Cape Town location by delivering 
written notice to the Company Secretary at Melinda@fusioncorp.co.za or Andrea@fusioncorp.co.za, by no later than 
midday Friday on 28 September 2018. Should you fail to notify the Company timeously of your intention in writing, 
this facility will not be available on the date of the AGM. 
Please note that the cost of the video-conferencing facility will be for the account of the Company.

By order of the Board

Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Pty) Ltd 
Company Secretary 
Registered office
Avior Capital Markets Offices
11th Floor, South Tower, 140 West Street, Sandton, 2196
Transfer secretaries
4AX Registry
Cedarwood House, Bollywood’s Office Park, 35 Ballyclare Drive, Bryanston, 2121, South Africa
Sponsor
Pallidus Capital
Cradock Heights, corner of Tyrwhitt & Cradock Avenue
Rosebank, Johannesburg

Avior Capital Markets Holdings  •  Integrated Annual Report 2018

98



FORM OF PROXY
AVIOR CAPITAL MARKETS HOLDINGS LIMITED 

Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa (Registration number: 2015/08658/06) 
Share code: AVR (“Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited” or “the Company”)

Form of proxy – for use by certificated and own-name dematerialised shareholders only

For use at the annual general meeting of ordinary shareholders of the Company to be held at Avior Capital Markets 
Limited, Avior Capital Markets Offices, 140 West Street, Sandton, Johannesburg (the AGM).

I/We (Full name in print)

of (address)

Telephone: (Work) Telephone: (Home) Cell phone:

being the registered holder of shares in the Company, hereby appoint:

or failing him/her
or failing him/her

the Chairperson of the AGM,  
as my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me/us at the AGM for purposes of considering and, if deemed fit, 
passing, with or without modification, the ordinary and special resolutions to be proposed thereat and at any 
adjournment thereof and to vote for and/or against the resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect of the 
ordinary shares registered in my/our name(s), in accordance with the following instruction (see notes):

Number of shares
In 

favour Against Abstain
Ordinary Resolution Number 1.1 Re appointment: M Ramplin
Ordinary Resolution Number 1.2 Reappointment P Koutromanos
Ordinary Resolution Number 1.3 Reappointment K Mattison
Ordinary Resolution Number 1.4 Reappointment J Larsen
Ordinary Resolution Number 2 Confirmation of appointment: TV Mokgatlha
Ordinary Resolution Number 3 Confirmation of appointment S Price
Ordinary Resolution Number 4 Appointment of TV Mokgatlha as Chairman and 
member of the Audit and Risk Committee
Ordinary Resolution Number 5 Appointment of S Price as member of the Audit and 
Risk Committee
Ordinary Resolution Number 6 Appointment of M Ramplin as member of the audit 
and risk committee
Ordinary Resolution Number 7 Appointment of External Auditor
Ordinary Resolution Number 8 Non-Binding advisory note on the remuneration 
policy
Ordinary Resolution Number 9 Non-Binding advisory note on the implementation 
report
Ordinary Resolution Number 10 General Authority to issue shares for cash
Special Resolution Number 1 Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors
Special Resolution Number 2 Intercompany financial assistance in terms of section 
45 of the Companies Act 
Special Resolution Number 3 Financial assistance in terms of section 44 of the 
Companies Act
Special Resolution Number 4 General authority to repurchase shares

Number of shares
Please indicate your voting instruction by way of inserting the number of shares or by a cross in the space provided.

Signed at on this day of 2018.

Signature(s)

Assisted by (where applicable) (state capacity and full name)

Each Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxy(ies) (who need not 
be a shareholder(s) of the Company) to attend, speak and vote in his/her stead at the AGM.
Please read the notes on overleaf
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An Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative 
proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the space(s) provided, with or without deleting “the Chairperson of the AGM”. 
The person whose name appears first on the form of proxy and who is present at the meeting will be entitled to act 
as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.

An Avior Capital Markets Holdings shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the 
relevant number of shares to be voted on behalf of that shareholder in the appropriate box provided. Failure to 
comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the Chairperson of the AGM, if he/she is the authorised proxy, to 
vote in favour of the resolutions at the meeting, or any other proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the meeting 
as he/she deems fit, in respect of all the shares concerned. A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all 
the votes exercisable by the shareholder or his/her proxy, but the total of the votes cast and in respect whereof 
abstentions are recorded may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the shareholder or his/her proxy.

When there are joint registered holders of any shares, any one of such persons may vote at the meeting in respect 
of such shares as if he/she was solely entitled thereto, but, if more than one of such joint holders be present or 
represented at any meeting, that one of the said persons whose name stands first in the register in respect of such 
shares or his/ her proxy, as the case may be, shall alone be entitled to vote in respect thereof. Several executors 
or administrators of a deceased member, in whose name any shares stand, shall be deemed joint holders thereof.

Forms of proxy must be completed and returned to be received by the transfer secretaries of the Company, 4 Africa 
Exchange (4AX) (Postnet Suite 532, Private Bag X51, Bryanston, 2021).

Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory(ies).

Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity 
must be attached to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by the Company’s transfer secretaries or waived 
by the Chairperson of the AGM.

The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the AGM 
and speaking and voting in person.

SUMMARY OF RIGHTS CONTAINED IN SECTION 58 OF THE COMPANIES ACT

In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act:

• A shareholder of a company may, at any time and in accordance with the provisions of section 58 of the Companies Act, 
appoint any individual (including an individual who is not a shareholder) as a proxy to participate in, and speak and vote 
at, a shareholders’ meeting on behalf of such shareholder

• A proxy may delegate her or his authority to act on behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to any restriction 
set out in the instrument appointing such proxy

• Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, the appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time 
and to the extent that the relevant shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any of such 
shareholder’s rights as a shareholder

• Any appointment by a shareholder of a proxy is revocable unless the form of instrument used to appoint such proxy 
states otherwise

• If an appointment of a proxy is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by: (i) cancelling it in writing, 
or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy and (ii) delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy 
and to the relevant company

•  A proxy appointed by a shareholder is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of such shareholder 
without direction, except to the extent that the relevant company’s memorandum of incorporation, or the instrument 
appointing the proxy, provides otherwise

• If the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies has been delivered by a shareholder to a company, then, for so long 
as that appointment remains in effect, any notice that is required in terms of the Companies Act or such company’s 
memorandum of incorporation to be delivered to a shareholder must be delivered by such company to:

• The relevant shareholder; or

• The proxy or proxies, if the relevant shareholder has: (i) directed such company to do so, in writing and (ii) paid any 
reasonable fee charged by such company for doing so.
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GENERAL ADMINISTRATION 

Company secretary 

Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services

Unit 7, Block C, Southdowns Office Park, Karee street, Irene, Pretoria

Registered office

Avior Capital Markets Offices

11th Floor, South Tower, 140 West Street, Sandton, 2196

Transfer secretaries

4AX Registry

Cedarwood House, Bollywood’s Office Park, 35 Ballyclare Drive, 
Bryanston, 2121, South Africa

Sponsor

Pallidus Capital

Cradock Heights, corner of Tyrwhitt & Cradock Avenue

Rosebank, Johannesburg

SHAREHOLDERS DIARY
Record date for the purposes of being entitled to receive this notice - 
Friday, 31 August 2018.

Record date to be recorded in the Share Register for the purposes of 
being entitled to attend and vote at the AGM - Friday, 28 September 
2018.

Last day to trade - Tuesday, 25 September 2018.

Date of AGM - Tuesday, 9 October 2018.

Last date to submit proxy - Friday, 5 October 2018.
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ABBREVIATIONS 

A

A2X A2X Markets
AFS Annual Financial Statements
AGM Annual General Meeting
Avior/the Company  Avior Capital Markets Holdings Limited
The Group Avior Capital Markets Group

B

BDO South Africa Incorporated
B-BBEE Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment

C

CIPC Companies and Intellectual Property Commission
The Companies Act Companies Act No.71 of 2008, as amended

E

EE Employment Equity
EU European Union 
Email electronic mail 

G

GDP Gross Domestic Product

H

HEPS Headline Earnings per Share
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ABBREVIATIONS (continued)

I

IIRF International Integrated Reporting Framework
IAR integrated annual report
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

J

JSE Johannesburg Stock Exchange Limited
JSE’s AltX JSE’s Alternative Exchange

K

King IVTM report King Report on Corporate Governance

M

MiFID II Markets in Financial Instruments Directive

P

PKF PKF (vga) Chartered Accountants

S

SENS Stock Exchange News Service
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